

A Calculated Risk





Planning committee

Content Experts

- Clinical experts
 - Igbal Bata LRCPS MRCP FRCPC Cardiologist, Department of Medicine, Dalhousie University
 - <u>Richard Crowell</u> MD FRCPC Int Medicine (Cardiology) Cardiologist, Department of Medicine, Dalhousie University
 - Laurie Mallery MD, FRCPC, Head, Division of Geriatric Medicine, Department of Medicine, Dalhousie University
 - <u>Paige Moorhouse</u> MD, MPH, FRCPC, Division of Geriatric Medicine, Department of Medicine, Dalhousie University.
- Drug evaluation pharmacist
 - Pam McLean-Veysey BScPharm, Team Leader, Drug Evaluation Unit, Capital Health

Family Physician Advisory Panel

- Bernie Buffett MD, Neils Harbour, Nova Scotia
- Ken Cameron BSc MD CCFP, Dartmouth, Nova Scotia
- Norah Mogan MD CCFP, Liverpool, Nova Scotia

Dalhousie CME

- <u>Michael Allen</u> MD MSc Family Physician, Director Evidence-based Programs and Academic Detailing Service
- Michael Fleming MD CCFP FCFP Family Physician, Director Family Physician Programs in CME

Academic Detailers

- Lillian Berry BScPharm
- Isobel Fleming BScPharm ACPR
- <u>Cathy Ross</u> RN BScNursing

Disclosure statements

<u>The Academic Detailing Service</u> is operated by Dalhousie Continuing Medical Education and funded by the Nova Scotia Department of Health. Dalhousie University Office of Continuing Medical Education has full control over content.

<u>Dr Michael Allen</u> has received funding from the Nova Scotia Department of Health for research projects and to develop CME programs.

<u>Dr Iqbal Bata</u> has received funding from various pharmaceutical companies for lecture fees and has served on advisory boards. He has also participated in clinical trials.

Dr Richard Crowell has no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Dr Laurie Mallery has no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Dr Paige Moorhouse has no conflicts of interest to disclose.

Cite this document as: Lipid Lowering in Primary Prevention: a calculated risk, Dalhousie CME Academic Detailing Service, February 2013, http://cme.medicine.dal.ca/ad_resources.htm

Please direct correspondence to: Dr Michael Allen, michael.allen@dal.ca

© Copyright 2013 Dalhousie Academic Detailing Service

The information contained in this document, and related presentations made by representatives of the Academic Detailing Service, are based on current literature and recommendations. Although care has been taken in preparing this material, Dalhousie University does not and cannot guarantee its accuracy. Physicians must use their own discretion in applying this information to individual patient care. Anyone using the information does so at their own risk and shall be deemed to indemnify Dalhousie University and individual representatives of the Academic Detailing Service from any and all injury or damage arising from such use.

"Seek simplicity, and mistrust it." Alfred North Whitehead

Table of Contents

Definitions and abbreviations4
Summary statements 5
Introduction9
Case Step 1 Patient characteristics13
Estimating Cardiovascular risk
Case Step 2 Calculating risk15
Decision-making for patients at intermediate risk
Relative and absolute benefits of statins16
Effect of family history on calculating CVD risk
Case Step 3 Reassessing risk based on family history 20
Case Step 4 Lipid target21
LDL targets
Case Step 5 Managing side effects23
Combination therapy with ezetimibe
Case Step 6 Combination therapy24
Choice of statin and monitoring
Lipid lowering in women in primary prevention
Lipid lowering in the elderly in primary prevention
Statin use in severe frailty
Adverse effects of statins
References

Appendices

Appendix 1 Summary of JUPITER and limitations	. 54
Appendix 2 Table of negative studies	. 55
Appendix 3 Ezetimibe clinical trials	. 58
Appendix 4 Summary of statin characteristics	. 60
Appendix 5 Statin costs for comparable lipid lowering doses	. 61
Appendix 6 Clinical frailty scale	. 62

Tables and Figures

Table 1 Summary of 2012 CCS treatment target guidelines	11
Table 2 Results of primary prevention meta-analyses	17
Table 3 Absolute benefits that may be achieved from taking in statin according to differing levels of baseline risk	18
Table 4 Efficacy and safety outcomes of TNT	22
Table 5 Results of primary outcome of SHARP	24
Table 6 Primary outcome of JUPITER for men and women	27
Table 7 Primary outcome of MEGA for men and women	27
Table 8 Characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis of women	27
Table 9 Primary outcome in combined primary and secondary prevention groups of PROSPER	29
Table 10 Outcomes in secondary prevention group of PROSPER	36
Table 11 Stroke outcomes in statin studies in the elderly	39
Table 12 Risk factors for myopathy	43
Table 13 Results of JUPITER	54



Definitions and Abbreviations

ACR	Albumin creatinine ratio
AR	Absolute risk
ARI	Absolute risk increase
ARR	Absolute risk reduction
CDA	Canadian Diabetes Association
CHD	Coronary heart disease
CCS	Canadian Cardiovascular Society
CIMT	Carotid intima media thickness. The change in thickness of the intima and media of the carotid artery. This outcome has often been used as a surrogate for cardiovascular events although the validity is now being questioned.
СК	Creatine kinase
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
FRS	Framingham risk score
HDL	High density cholesterol
HR	Hazard ratio
hsCRP	High sensitivity C-reactive protein
LDL	Low density cholesterol
MI	Myocardial infarction
NNT	Number needed to treat
PAD	Peripheral arterial disease
RR	Relative risk
RRI	Relative risk increase
RRR	Relative risk reduction
тс	Total cholesterol
TIA	Transient ischemic attack
TRIGL	Triglycerides
ULN	Upper limit of normal
Acronyms of	selected studies
JUPITER	Justification for the Use of Statins in Prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin
MEGA	Management of Elevated Cholesterol in the Primary Prevention Group of Adult Japanese
PROSPER	PROspective Study of Pravastatin in the Elderly at Risk

SUMMARY STATEMENTS

Question 1: How have the Framingham risk scores changed and what are the consequences? Page 13

- Before 2009, the Framingham risk scores recommended in the Canadian guideline referred to the 10-year risk of a patient experiencing a **non-fatal MI** or **CHD death**.
- The Framingham risk scores now recommended in the Canadian guideline refer to risk of developing many more manifestations of cardiovascular disease such as angina, MI, TIA, stroke, revascularization, or peripheral artery disease.
- The result of changing from CHD to CVD is that many more people have moved into the intermediate and high risk categories.
- ➤ The risk categories have not changed i.e., low risk is <10%, intermediate risk is 10% to 19%, high risk is ≥ 20%.</p>
 - The Canadian guideline states that the categories "are completely arbitrary and have been chosen by consensus rather than by scientific evidence. Accordingly, clinical judgement is essential."
- The recent guidelines recommend that among patients 30-59 years of age without diabetes, the risk should be adjusted (percent risk doubled) when family history of premature CVD is positive (i.e., first-degree relative < 55 years for men and < 65 years of age for women).</p>
 - One content expert suggests taking into consideration the risk factor burden in the first degree relative (i.e. smoking, metabolic syndrome, sedentary lifestyle) when deciding to modify a patient's risk based on family history.

Question 2: What are the secondary tests and alternate targets in assessing and decreasing risk of developing CVD?

Page 12

- According to the 2012 Canadian guideline
 - The alternate targets are apo B and non-HDL which are considered to have high predictive value for CV risk.
 - New optional secondary testing is also suggested for patients found to be at intermediate risk but without significant dyslipidemia. Tests included are lipoprotein (a), hsCRP, hemoglobin A1c, and albumin to creatinine ratio (ACR).
 - However, the guidelines do not recommend multiple tests in an individual patient.
 - Clinicians should minimize the number of additional tests and use only those most appropriate based on the individual's risk profile and local availability and expertise. When using more than 1 secondary test the estimated increase in risk is **not** incremental.
- A summary of systematic reviews conducted for the US Preventive Services Task Force concluded that current evidence does not support the **routine** use of several novel risk factors for further risk stratification of intermediate-risk patients.



Question 3: What is the evidence for LDL targets in primary prevention? Page 21

- For intermediate and high risk patients, the LDL targets are ≤ 2 mmol/L or ≥ 50% decrease in LDL.
- The Canadian guideline comments that targets for treatment are
 - Somewhat arbitrary because none of the intervention studies have aimed for specific lipid targets, and
 - o Extrapolated from individual trial data and meta-analyses.
- Other guidelines state that treatment for lipid lowering "should aim towards these targets rather than consider them definitive" or "would not recommend the use of target levels of cholesterol for people at high risk of CVD".
- One content expert suggests that, for consistency with secondary prevention, efforts should be made to strive to achieve the targets in primary prevention.

Question 4: What is the evidence for using ezetimibe in combination with statins? Page 23

- Ezetimibe lowers LDL which in turn increases the proportion of patients reaching target lipid levels. However, there is currently no conclusive evidence that it reduces cardiovascular events or mortality, either alone or with statins.
 - One pending trial, IMPROVE-IT, is comparing simvastatin monotherapy to a simvastatin/ezetimibe combination for the prevention of cardiovascular events. Primary completion of data collection is expected by June 2013.
- ENHANCE is the only RCT that compared a high dose of statin (simvastatin 80 mg) alone to the same dose plus ezetimibe 10 mg in patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. After two years there was **no significant difference** in changes in the thickness of carotid media between the two treatments.
- One study, SHARP, found a benefit from simvastatin plus ezetimibe in reduction of coronary events in patients with chronic kidney disease. However this was compared to **placebo**, not statin alone.
- The Canadian guideline states "No studies to date have demonstrated a decrease in CVD event rate with the addition of lipid modulating drugs to statin therapy".

Question 5: What is the evidence for lipid lowering forprimary prevention in select populations?Page 26

Women

- Statins might provide some benefit in reducing CVD events in women. However there are limitations in published evidence.
- Because women may have a lower baseline risk of CVD than men at comparable ages, their absolute benefit may be lower and the NNTs will be higher.

Elderly

- The Framingham Risk Score calculations are based on studies that included subjects between 30 and 74 years old. If used in patients over 74 years old, results should be interpreted with caution.
 - The Canadian guideline states "Though clinical studies are currently under way to address this group, at this point clinical judgment is required in consultation with the patient to determine the value of pharmacotherapy."
- ➤ In the elderly (≥ 65 years old) there is no conclusive evidence of a statistically significant decrease in mortality in primary prevention.
- There is uncertainty in the evidence for efficacy of statins in primary prevention of CVD events in the elderly.
- The elderly are reported to be more prone to adverse effects. In primary prevention, consider a trial of discontinuation of statin therapy if there is concern about myalgias, cognitive impairment, or drug interactions from polypharmacy.

Statin use in severe frailty

- ➤ This consensus approach is intended to apply to patients who are ≥ 7 on the Clinical Frailty Scale. It is also applicable to most older adults living in long term care facilities, who are typically severely frail, e.g. completely dependent for personal care.
- We found no studies reporting the effect of lipid lowering in the severe frail elderly in primary or secondary prevention. Therefore we examined studies in the non-frail elderly to determine if they reported outcomes that were meaningful and could be applied to the frail elderly.
- Meaningful outcomes for the frail elderly might be different from other patients. Prolonging life might not be a goal of therapy so mortality might not be a meaningful outcome. Symptomatic non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke leading to disability are more likely to be meaningful outcomes since they affect quality of life.
- Primary Prevention: It is unlikely that statins provide benefit in applicable outcomes and so there is no reason to prescribe or continue statins for primary prevention.
- Secondary prevention: Statin treatment in severe frailty is probably not necessary, although there may be extenuating individualized circumstances that shift the risk/benefit ratio.
- Heart failure: There is evidence that statins are ineffective in improving clinical outcomes in the elderly and there is no reason to start or continue them for this indication.
- Statin dosing: If statins are to be used, use lower doses.

Question 6: How clinically significant are the adverse effects of statins? Page 42

- > Myopathy is one of the main adverse effects that limits compliance with statin therapy.
- > In real world clinical pratice myalgias can affect up to 29% of persons prescribed statins.
- Several options are reported for managing the symptoms of myopathy; however most are not supported by high levels of evidence.
 - Switch to a statin with hydrophilic (rosuvastatin, pravastatin) rather than lipophilic characteristics or lower potency (fluvastatin) which may result in a lower risk of myopathy.
 - Non-daily doses of statin. Atorvastatin and rosuvastatin have long half-lives and may be suited to alternate day, or up to once weekly dosing.
- Significant **liver** pathology attributable to statins is rare.
- Statins may increase the risk of developing diabetes by about 9% (OR 1.09, 95% CI 1.02 to 1.17; NNH 255, 95% CI 150 to 852 for 4 years)
 - Intensive doses are more likely than moderate doses to increase risk of developing diabetes.
- Some patients on statins may complain of **memory loss** or **cognitive impairment**.

Introduction

- This topic is an update of our 2005 session on Statins and Cardiovascular disease with a focus on primary prevention. Since then there have been several developments such as
 - New risk assessment tools e.g. Framingham Risk Score (FRS) for cardiovascular disease (CVD)
 - New optional tests for further risk assessment e.g. hsCRP, A1c, ACR
 - o Lower LDL targets
 - o Alternate targets for treatment of dyslipidemia e.g. non-HDL cholesterol
 - Outcome studies for potent statins which decrease LDL to a greater extent than previous agents e.g. rosuvastatin
 - o Studies which show no benefit from lipid lowering
 - Lack of evidence for using LDL-lowering drugs (e.g. ezetimibe) in combination with statins
- The overall effect of changes is to recommend more aggressive therapy for more people, particularly those without existing CVD (primary prevention), which has led to some controversy.
- One objective of this topic is to discuss the extent to which these changes increase the number of people on treatment and the **absolute** benefits and harms that patients may experience.
 - We are addressing lipid lowering only in **primary** prevention. The benefit in secondary prevention is well established in the populations that have been studied.
- In preparing this topic we have reviewed
 - o Primary publications
 - o Review articles and meta-analyses
 - o Cochrane reviews
 - Guidelines from Canada and other countries (Australia, Europe, United States, New Zealand, United Kingdom).
- > We will use a case-based approach and address the following questions:
 - 1. How have the Framingham risk scores changed and what are the consequences?
 - 2. What are the recommendations for secondary tests and alternate targets in assessing and decreasing risk of developing CVD?
 - 3. What is the evidence for LDL targets in primary prevention?
 - 4. What is the evidence for using ezetimibe in combination with statins?
 - 5. What is the evidence for lipid lowering in select populations (women, elderly, frail elderly)?
- We have also included information on adverse effects of statins and appendices which highlight statin characteristics and costs, as well as evidence tables of relevant clinical trials.



Canadian Guidelines

- The 2012 Canadian Cardiovascular Society (CCS) Dyslipidemia Guideline Update¹ has the following **new** features:
 - o Introduction of the concept of Cardiovascular Age determination
 - $\circ~$ Recommending more frequent monitoring of patients with FRS > 5% and < 10%
 - o Using either apo B or non-HDL-C as alternate lipid targets
 - o Recommendation for secondary testing in selected patients
 - \circ $\;$ Addition of chronic kidney disease definitions and treatment $\;$
 - o Lower age for treatment in diabetes
 - o More implicit recommendations for health behavior change
 - o New recommendation about statin adverse effects and a statin intolerance approach
 - Use of GRADE recommendations and process for categorizing evidence.
- There is reduced prominence for hsCRP. It is now an optional secondary test whereas in 2009, it was a factor to consider along with LDL and TC/HDL ratio in determining who should be treated in the moderate risk group.
- There is a recommendation for patients whose plasma lipid profile should be screened (italics indicate changes from 2009 guidelines)
 - Men \ge 40 years old, and women \ge 50 years old or postmenopausal
 - o All patients, regardless of age with any of the following conditions
 - Diabetes
 - Arterial hypertension
 - Current cigarette smoking
 - Obesity (metabolic syndrome, pre-diabetes, polycystic ovarian syndrome, BMI > 27)
 - Family history of premature CVD in first-degree relative (< 55 years in men and < 65 in women)
 - Inflammatory diseases
 - Moderate renal function impairment (eGFR ≤60ml/min/1.73 m²) or urinary albumin:creatinine ratio ≥ 3 mg/mmol (micro-albuminuria)
 - Evidence of atherosclerosis
 - HIV infection
 - Clinical manifestations of hyperlipidemias (xanthomas, xanthelasmas, premature arcus cornealis)
 - Erectile dysfunction
 - Family history of hyperlipidemia
 - Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
 - Abdominal aneurysm
- The Canadian guideline states that people of South Asian and First Nation's ancestry have increased risk and consideration should be given to screening at an earlier age.¹



- High risk is defined as those subjects who have
 - Adjusted Framingham Risk Score of ≥ 20% (adjusted indicates adjustment for family history)
 - o Clinical coronary, cerebrovascular, or peripheral vascular disease
 - Diabetes >15 years duration and age ≥30 years or microvascular complications
 - Diabetes and age ≥40 years
 - o Abdominal aortic aneurysm
 - Chronic kidney disease (eGFR \leq 45 or ACR \geq 30, or eGFR \leq 60 and ACR \geq 3)
 - High risk hypertension (hypertension + 3 risk factors)
- The guidelines suggest that all patients be encouraged to adopt healthy lifestyle interventions.¹
- > Table 1 lists treatment target recommendations for various levels of risk.

Table 1 Summary of 2012 CCS treatment target guidelines¹

Risk level	Initiate therapy if	Primary target LDL	Alternate target
High (FRS ≥ 20%)	Consider treatment in all Lifestyle plus pharmacotherapy Strong, High	≤ 2 mmol/L or ≥ 50% decrease in LDL Strong, High	Apo B ≤ 0.8 g/L Non-HDL ≤ 2.6 mmol/L <i>Strong, High</i>
Intermediate (FRS 10-19%)	$LDL \ge 3.5 \text{ mmol/L}$ Consider drug therapy if LDL ≥ 3.5 after a trial of lifestyle modification Strong, Moderate For LDL < 3.5 consider if - Apo B $\ge 1.2 \text{ g/L or}$ - Non-HDL $\ge 4.3 \text{ mmol/L}$	≤ 2 mmol/L or ≥ 50% decrease in LDL	Apo B ≤ 0.8 mg/L Non-HDL ≤ 2.6 mmol/L
	Strong, Moderate	Strong, Moderate	Strong, Moderate
Low ^a (FRS < 10%)	LDL ≥ 5.0 mmol/L Familial hypercholesterolemia Strong, Moderate	≥ 50% reduction in LDL	

CCS, Canadian Cardiovascular Society; FRS, Framingham risk score;

Strong = strong recommendation

High = high level of evidence, Moderate = moderate level of evidence

a For those in the 6-9% group, consider yearly calculation of FRS and discussion about risk-benefit ratio of pharmacotherapy at lower levels of LDL

Alternate targets and secondary testing

- The 2012 Canadian guideline¹ indicates that other indicators for therapy and alternate targets are apo B and non-HDL and states
 - They are considered to have high predictive value for CV risk.
 - Apo B may not be a funded laboratory test.
 - Non-HDL is easily calculated (TC minus HDL) and incurs no additional cost.
- The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration⁷⁶ conducted a study which aimed to determine whether additional lipid-related markers improved CV risk prediction. The study concluded:
 - None of the following measures were superior to total cholesterol and HDL when they replaced traditional cholesterol measurements in risk prediction scores:
 - Total cholesterol: HDL ratio
 - Non–HDL
 - Linear combination of apolipoprotein B and A-I
 - Apolipoprotein B:A-I ratio.
 - **Replacement** of total cholesterol and HDL with apolipoprotein B and A-I significantly worsened risk discrimination.
 - The value of **adding** information on emerging lipid related markers to risk scores, already containing total cholesterol, HDL, and other conventional risk factors resulted in **slight** potential for improvement in CVD prediction.
 - None of the additional markers significantly improved reclassification of participants beyond what is currently used to inform treatment decisions.
 - The authors conclude the clinical benefits of using any of these biomarkers remains to be established.
- The 2012 Canadian Guideline suggests optional secondary testing for patients found to be at intermediate risk but without significant dyslipidemia.¹ Included are
 - Biomarkers lipoprotein(a), hsCRP, hemoglobin A1c and albumin to creatinine ratio (ACR)
 - Imaging exercise stress test, carotid imaging, ankle-brachial index and coronary artery calcium
 - However, the guidelines do not recommend multiple tests in an individual patient.
 - Clinicians should minimize the number of additional tests and only use those most appropriate based on the individual's risk profile and local availability and expertise. When using more than 1 secondary test the estimated increase in risk is **not** incremental.
- According to a recent summary of systematic reviews conducted for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force,⁷⁷current evidence does not support the routine use of several novel risk factors for further risk stratification of intermediate-risk patients.
 - Included in the review were lipoprotein(a), hsCRP, fasting blood glucose, coronary artery calcium, homocysteine level, leucocyte count, periodontal disease, ankle-brachial index and carotid intima-media thickness.



Case Step 1 Patient characteristics

John Hayward consults you about a painful shoulder, the result of some overzealous yard work over the weekend. He attends your office infrequently and you wonder if you should take advantage of this visit to screen for cardiovascular disease.

Age	51
Height	178 cm
Weight	92 kg
BMI	29
Cigarettes	Lifelong non-smoker
BP	140/90 not taking antihypertensives

The 2012 Guidelines recommend a screening lipid profile on men \ge 40 years old and those with a BMI > 27.¹

Results of a lipid profile are:

6.1 mmol/L
1.0 mmol/L
3.2 mmol/L
2.6 mmol/L

His HbA1c is 5.4%

He has no kidney dysfunction and no family history of premature CVD.

Estimating Cardiovascular Risk

- When you get the results of his lipid profile you want to estimate his risk of having a cardiovascular event. There are several options, for example
 - The 2012 Canadian Guideline recommends that initial risk assessment be completed using the FRS to estimate the 10-year risk of developing total CVD ^{1,2} using risk score tables or an online calculator <u>www.circl.ubc.ca/cardiorisk-calculator.html</u>
 - o Other online calculators are at
 - http://www.ccsguidelineprograms.ca/index.php?option=com_content&vie w=article&id=98&Itemid=68
 - Offers smart phone apps for download and useful tools for communicating risk to patients.
 - http://cvrisk.mvm.ed.ac.uk/calculator/calc.asp
 - This site is convenient because it includes both FRS CVD and CHD risk calculators, along with others developed in the UK. It also has tools for communicating risk to patients based on a meta-analysis of 22 statin trials.³
 - http://www.framinghamheartstudy.org/risk/index.html
 - Includes risk calculators for various CVD conditions such as CHD, stroke, MI, and PAD.

- http://www.cvdcheck.org.au/
 - Australian calculator which estimates 5-year CV risk
- http://www.chiprehab.com/
 - Designed for patient use and suggested in 2012 Canadian guideline to calculate CV age particularly in younger patients where 10-year FRS may underestimate long-term risk.
- Previous versions of risk calculators considered hard outcomes such as non-fatal MI and CHD death. The outcomes have now been expanded to include many more manifestations of CVD (coronary death, MI, coronary insufficiency, angina, ischemic stroke, hemorrhagic stroke, TIA, PAD, revascularization, and heart failure.)
- Although the new risk assessment tool includes all CVD, the cut points for categories of 10year risk remain the same at the following Framingham Risk Scores¹
 - High risk $\ge 20\%$
 - o Intermediate risk 10-19%
 - o Low risk < 10%
 - The Canadian guideline states that the categories "are completely arbitrary and have been chosen by consensus rather than by scientific evidence. Accordingly, clinical judgement is essential."
- Not all risk assessment models use the same categories. For instance the 2012 Australian model uses categories based on 5-year risk.⁴
 - High risk > 15%
 - o Moderate risk 10-15%
 - Low risk < 10%
- The result of including extra outcomes in calculating risk is that more patients will be included in the moderate and high risk categories and therefore eligible for interventions including lipid-modifying therapies and additional screening tests. A recent US study⁵ estimated
 - o 63% of men and 74% of women will increase at least one risk category.
 - The low risk population drops from 52% to 16%.
 - The high-risk population increases from 4% to 20%.
 - Of subjects changing risk categories, 30% will now fail to meet their new lipid goals.
 - In patients reclassified to a higher risk category and not meeting the new lipid goals approximately 80% are not currently on lipid lowering therapy.
- A Canadian study on the effect of the change in the FRS calculator also reported increases in the number of patients moving from the low and moderate risk categories to high risk leading to a 2.3-fold increase in the need for lipid-lowering treatment.⁶⁵



- > There are limitations to the risk assessment calculators:
 - \circ Most do not calculate risk for patients >75 years old and may not be accurate in patients younger than 30 or older than 65.⁶
 - They do not predict risk well for all ethnic groups such as Japanese-American men, native-American women, or Hispanic men.⁶
 - Different calculators give different estimates of cardiovascular risk and predict different outcomes.⁶
 - We did not find articles validating the CVD calculators for Canadians. One cannot assume that a calculator developed in one country or population applies to another unless it is validated.
 - According to the guidelines¹, there are no randomized trials showing optimal outcomes based on FRS for guiding therapy. In addition, no risk equation is perfect.
- LDL has not been found to improve prediction of CVD when included in Framingham risk scores,² which is why it does not appear in any of the risk calculators.

Case Step 2 Calculating Risk

Being a curious person you want to see if there is any difference in the risk estimates from the different calculators. Here are the estimates of 10-year risk you calculate

Framingham paper-based version	15.6%	
Edinburgh online version of Framingham CVD risk	16.8%	

You note that in the Framingham paper-based version points assigned are based on categories of the risk factors. For example a patient with a total cholesterol of 5.3 will get the same number of points as a patient with a total cholesterol of 6.2. Also, a patient with TC of 6.2 can be assigned 2 or 3 points.

You decide to see how much difference there is between the paper-based version and the online version at the extremes of the risk factor categories used to calculate risk for your patient.

Age	тс	HDL	SBP	Paper-based risk score	Online risk score
50	5.3	1.1	140	15.6%	13%
54	6.1	0.9	149	15.6%	24%

You realize the online calculators in which you enter exact numbers for risk factors base their estimates on the actual Framingham equations and decide this provides a more individualized estimate of risk.

In accordance with the Canadian guideline you advise him of the importance of following a healthy lifestyle including proper diet, weight loss, and regular physical activity.

Decision-making for patients at intermediate risk

- > Mr Hayward is at intermediate risk of having a CV event within the next 10 years.
- For people at intermediate risk the 2012 guideline recommends¹
 - o **Starting** treatment if LDL is ≥ 3.5 mmol/L. (Strong recommendation, Moderate evidence)
 - **Considering** treatment if LDL < 3.5 mmol/L if the **optional** test of Apo B is \ge 1.2 g/L or non-HDL \ge 4.3 mmol/L (Strong recommendation, Moderate evidence)
 - o In both cases, the guideline emphasizes the need for health behavior modification.
- According to the 2012 guidelines Mr Hayward is not a candidate for pharmacotherapy based on his LDL (3.2 mmol/L) but might be based on his non-HDL (5.1 mmol/L).
 - You are uncertain about starting statin therapy based on his non-HDL cholesterol since this is considered an alternate target and the clinical benefit from its use remains to be established.⁷⁶
 - The 2012 guidelines suggest that in intermediate risk patients with LDL < 3.5 mmol/L, if apo B or non-HDL levels are above suggested targets, these patients may be at increased risk and **considered** for pharmacotherapy.
 - However the guideline also states that "Pervasive pharmacologic therapy for intermediate risk patients with LDL <3.5 mmol/L is not routinely recommended because of the smaller estimated absolute benefit of therapy."
- The Australian Guideline states the benefits of lipid-lowering therapy depend on initial levels of risk: absolute reductions in risk are highest in people at the highest baseline risk irrespective of initial lipid levels.
 - The decision to treat people at moderate levels of risk with lipid-lowering pharmacotherapy is more complex and can be determined by responsiveness to lifestyle interventions, taking into consideration other risk factors not included in the Framingham risk equations.⁴
- Before deciding to start a statin you would like to have some idea of the **absolute** benefit he might expect.

Relative and Absolute Benefits of Statins

- While you are confident in recommending statins for lipid lowering in people with existing CVD (secondary prevention) you are less certain about the benefits in primary prevention.
- Table 2 shows results of recent meta-analyses⁷⁻¹⁰ of primary prevention studies indicating that statins lead to a relative risk reduction of about
 - 10% in death (range from no benefit to 27%)
 - 20% in stroke (range 6% to 35%)
 - 30% in coronary events including MI (range 19% to 50%)



Study	Measure	Death	Stroke	MI /Coronary events
Cochrane ¹⁰	RR	0.84 (0.73–0.96)	0.78 (0.65–0.94)	0.72 (0.65–0.79)
Tonelli ⁷	RR	0.90 (0.84–0.97)	0.83 (0.74–0.93)	0.63 (0.50–0.79)
Brugts ⁸	OR	0.88 (0.81–0.96)	0.81 (0.71–0.93)	0.70 (0.61–0.81)
Ray ⁹	RR	0.91 (0.83–1.01)	Not reported	Not reported

- The meta-analysis by Ray et al⁹ resulted in non-statistically significant benefit in death which might be because the authors obtained additional detail allowing exclusion of 3695 secondary prevention patients.⁸⁷ Therefore all patients in the analysis were primary prevention.
- In general LDL reductions ranged between 23% and 32% in the trials included in the metaanalyses and LDL levels achieved were **not below** 2 mmol/L.
- A Cochrane review found a 30% relative risk reduction in fatal and non-fatal CVD events
 RR 0.70 (95% CI: 0.61 to 0.79).¹⁰
- The authors of meta-analyses point out that the **absolute** benefit in people at less than 20% risk is likely to be small with large numbers needed to treat (NNTs). A Canadian meta-analysis⁷ calculated the following NNTs:

	NNT	95% CI
Death from any cause	239	149 to 796
Myocardial infarction	216	160 to 381
Stroke	291	190 to 707

(Median duration 2 years, range 0.5 to 5.3 years)

- A recent meta-analysis of 22 statin trials (n=134 537) categorized patients into various categories based on their 5-year risks of developing CVD. The authors then calculated the effect of lowering LDL by 1 mmol/L on the 5-year risk of developing CVD.³
 - A 20% to 25% **relative** risk reduction of CVD events was associated with a 1 mmol/L decrease in LDL regardless of baseline risk.
 - The meta-analysis should be considered a **post-hoc observational** study of many RCTs. Patients in the analysis were no longer randomized and other factors besides lowering of LDL may have influenced the results. ¹¹ Moreover, the trials were not designed to study this outcome. Therefore results should be interpreted with caution.
- The UK¹² and Australian Guidelines⁴ state "There are no clinical trials in primary prevention that have evaluated the relative and absolute benefits of cholesterol lowering to different total and LDL cholesterol targets in relation to clinical events."
- It would help to have some idea of the **absolute** benefit Mr Hayward might obtain from taking a statin.
- > Table 3 provides estimates of the benefits of statins based on the Cochrane review.¹⁰



- There are limitations to the use of any of the risk score calculations and estimates of the effectiveness of statins.
 - Clinical studies are done under ideal conditions and with carefully selected patients. Benefits in actual practice may not be as great and adverse events may be more common.
 - In low to intermediate risk patients, the Framingham risk score may overestimate the true risk of a cardiovascular event, while in high risk patients it may underestimate the true risk.¹³

Because of these limitations, the estimates provided in **Table 3** are the "best case" scenario.

Table 3 Absolute benefits that may be achieved from taking in statin according to differing levels of baseline risk

No Statin	treatment		Statin Treatment	
Calculated 10- year risk of having a CVD event e.g. from FRS ^a	Probability of remaining event free	Estimated 10- year risk of having a CVD event ^b	Probability of remaining event free	NNT for 10 years
5%	95%	3.5%	96.5%	67
10% 15%	90% 85%	7% 10.5%	93% 89.5%	33 22
20% 25% 30%	80% 75% 70%	14% 17.5% 21%	86% 82.5% 79%	17 13 11

a Framingham Risk Score

b Calculations based on 30% reduction in CVD events from taking statin¹⁰

- After discussing the possible benefits of taking a statin, (in his case taking a statin for 10 years will increase his chance of **not** having a CVD event from 85% to 90%) you review the benefits of lifestyle modification^{1,14,15} and emphasize the importance of proper diet, weight loss, and regular physical activity.
- CASE DECISION POINT: He decides to try lifestyle modification and not to take a statin. You ask him to return for follow-up in three months.



Lifestyle Modification

Weight loss is associated with a modest reduction of LDL.¹⁶

- For every kg of weight loss, total cholesterol, LDL, and triglycerides are reduced by 0.05, 0.02, and 0.015 mmol/L respectively. If weight loss is maintained HDL increases by 0.007 mmol/L per kg loss.
- For example, if Mr Hayward loses 10 kg his LDL will drop by 0.2 mmol/L.

Exercise reduced the risk for acute MI by 14% in the case–control INTERHEART Odds ratio 0.86 (95% CI 0.76-0.97)¹⁷

- Similarly, a meta-analysis of 33 studies found that 150 min /week of moderateintensity activity resulted in a 14% lower risk for CHD compared with a sedentary lifestyle. Increasing to 300 min/week resulted in a 20% lower risk.¹⁸
- Higher levels of physical activity were found to proportionally increase total life expectancy in an analysis of the Framingham cohort.¹⁹
 - Moderate and high activity increased longevity by more than 1.3 and 3.5 years respectively and increased years free of CV disease by more than 1.1 and 3.2 years longer compared with low activity.
 - Low levels of physical activity were defined as <30 minutes per day, moderate (30-33 minutes), and high >33 minutes.

Daily fruits and vegetables and moderate alcohol consumption are also protective factors. $^{\rm 17}$

"At present, tobacco avoidance, maintenance of optimum weight, a prudent diet, and regular exercise should remain the **foundations** for prevention of cardiovascular disease in apparently healthy individuals with average risk factors." ¹⁵

"In view of the potentially large public-health and economic implications of widespread use of statins in apparently healthy individuals with average risk levels, confirmation of the long-term results of major lowering of LDL cholesterol is needed before potent statins are used widely in average-risk healthy people."¹⁵

Effect of Family History on Calculating CVD Risk

Case Step 3 Reassessing risk based on family history

Mr Hayward returns 3 months later. He is doing well and has lost 3 kg, is walking about 30 minutes per day, and has increased his intake of fruit and vegetables.

However, he tells you his older brother (54 years old) is in hospital recovering from a heart attack. His brother had no cardiovascular risk factors. The hospital staff told Mr Hayward he may be at increased risk of also having a heart attack. He asks for your opinion.

His lipid profile has changed				
	Baseline (mmol/L)	3 months lifestyle (mmol/L)		
тс	6.1	5.9		
HDL	1.0	1.1		
LDL	3.2	3.1		
TRIGL	2.6	2.5		

His FRS based on his new lipid levels is slightly lower (10 year risk = 13%). However adjusting by 1.5 to 2 times because of his family history puts him in the high risk category (20% to 26%).

- The 2012 guidelines¹ recommend that among patients 30-59 years of age without diabetes, the risk should be adjusted (percent risk doubled) when family history of premature CVD is positive (i.e., first-degree relative < 55 years for men and < 65 years of age for women).</p>
 - Our content expert suggests taking into consideration the risk factor burden in the first degree relative (i.e. smoking, metabolic syndrome, sedentary lifestyle) when deciding to modify a patient's risk based on family history.
- CASE DECISION POINT: According to the Canadian guideline criteria, Mr Hayward now has a positive family history.
- The UK Guideline recommends increasing calculated risk by 1.5 if there is a history of male first-degree relative under 55 years with CHD or a history of first-degree female relative under 65 years. If more than one first-degree relative has CHD history, estimated risk should be increased by a factor of up to 2.¹²
- Other studies have shown approximate doubling of risks with parental or family history of CVD²⁰ regardless of the relative's age with risk increasing by up to 6 times if more than 1 first degree relative has a history of premature CVD (defined as <50¹⁷ or <55²¹).
 - $\circ~$ In some studies the association between family history and CVD is statistically significant in men but not women. $^{20\text{-}22}$
- Because of his family history, Mr Hayward's 10-year risk estimate of having a CVD event might increase to between 20% and 26% (1.5 to 2 times). Taking a statin might now increase his chance of **not** having a CVD event from about
 - o 80% to 86% (if his risk estimate is 20%)
 - o 75% to 83% (if his risk estimate is 26%)



- You discuss these benefits and the possible adverse effects of statin therapy (see page 42 for adverse effects). He is very concerned about his brother's condition and decides that he would like to start taking medication to lower his CVD risk.
- CASE DECISION POINT: After checking his thyroid function, fasting blood glucose, liver function (ALT) and CK (all normal) you start him on a moderate dose of a statin.

Case Step 4	Lipid target ths of therapy y	ou check his lipids again wi	th the following results.
	Baseline (mmol/L)	3 months lifestyle (mmol/L)	3 months on statin (mmol/L)
тс	6.1	5.9	5.2
IDL	1.0	1.1	1.1
.DL	3.2	3.1	2.3
TRIGI	2.6	2.5	2.5

Should you try to lower his LDL further?

LDL Targets

- ➤ The 2012 guidelines cite 4 primary prevention studies to support initiating therapy at LDL ≥ 3.5 mmol/L in intermediate risk.^{29,30,32,33}
- > The guidelines¹ also recommend lowering his LDL to $\leq 2 \text{ mmol/L}$ or by $\geq 50\%$ which would be 1.6 mmol/L and comment that the targets for treatment are
 - Somewhat arbitrary because none of the intervention studies have aimed for specific lipid targets, and
 - o Extrapolated from individual trial data and meta-analyses.
- To support the LDL target, the 2012 guideline cites 5 studies of intensive LDL lowering that have "confirmed that lowering LDL to a mean of 2.0 mmol/L or less is associated with the lowest risk of recurrent CVD events in **secondary** prevention patient populations."^{PROVE IT, AtoZ, IDEAL, TNT, SEARCH 23-27}
- All these studies were in secondary prevention populations, two of which were in acute coronary syndrome.^{23,24} Of these 5 studies:
 - Three showed no statistically significant difference in the primary outcomes from intensive LDL lowering.^{24,25,27}
 - Two did not achieve LDL levels in the intensively treated groups ≤ 2.0 mmol/ $L^{25,27}$
 - One study did achieve an LDL level of 2.0 mmol/L and showed benefit in reducing CV outcomes when LDL was reduced to 2.0 mmol/L compared to 2.6 mmol/L with atorvastatin 80 mg compared to atorvastatin 10 mg daily.²⁶
 - However there were more adverse events and discontinuations with the higher dose (Table 4).

Of note, the groups were not randomized to different LDL targets. They were randomized to receive either atorvastatin 10 mg or 80 mg, so this study is **not** a treat to target study.

Table 4 Efficacy and safety outcomes of TNT²⁶

	Even	t Rate		NNT for 4.		or 4.9 yrs
Efficacy outcomes	Atorv 10 mg n=5006	Atorv 80 mg n=4995	ARR	RRR	NNT	95% CI
Primary outcome – CHD death, non-fatal MI, stroke, resuscitation after cardiac arrest	10.9%	8.7%	2.2%	21%	44	29 to 92
Safety outcomes	Atorv 10 mg	Atorv 80 mg	ARI	RRI	NNH	95% CI
Adverse outcomes	5.8%	8.1%	2.4%	41%	42	30 to 74
Discontinuation from adverse events	5.3%	7.2%	1.9%	36%	53	35 to 105

ARR, absolute risk reduction; ARI, absolute risk increase; RRR, relative risk reduction; RRI, relative risk increase; NNT, number needed to treat; NNH, number needed to harm; CI, confidence intervals: atorv, atorvastatin

- In support of the recommendation to decrease LDL by at least 50%, the guideline cites a 1995 study which analyzed data from 11 studies (n=1851). These studies used quantitative coronary angiography to measure change in the diameter of coronary arteries in relation to absolute LDL levels achieved and percent reduction in LDL.²⁸
 - Mean duration of the studies was 2.6 years with a range of 1 to 4 years.
 - There was strong correlation between percent change in the diameter of coronary arteries and the percent change in LDL (r=0.74 p<0.0005) but not the absolute LDL level achieved (r=0.36, p=0.086).
 - The paper states that a graph demonstrates that a 44% reduction of LDL should arrest progression of atherosclerosis. However the graph is mislabeled and it is impossible to make such a conclusion based on it.
- MEGA, a Japanese trial of pravastatin 10 to 20 mg plus diet vs. diet alone achieved a 30% reduction in CHD and stroke that was associated with only an approximate 20% reduction in LDL to 3.3 mmol/L.³⁴
- > The Australian guideline⁴ on management of CVD risk states
 - "Targets for lipid-lowering therapy have been developed by extrapolation from the apparent benefits indicated by major trials of lipid lowering, therefore treatment for lipid lowering should **aim towards** these targets rather than consider them definitive."
- The UK Guideline¹² states
 - "There are **no clinical trials** in primary prevention that have evaluated the relative and absolute benefits of cholesterol lowering to different total and LDL cholesterol targets in relation to clinical events.



- In addition, the clinical effectiveness of higher intensity statins and of combining statins with other lipid lowering drugs has yet to be demonstrated for primary prevention.
- Due to lack of evidence, this guideline would **not recommend** the use of target levels of cholesterol for people at high risk of CVD."
- > Academic detailing comments about LDL targets in primary prevention
 - We agree with the guideline comment that the targets for treatment are somewhat arbitrary because none of the intervention studies have aimed for specific lipid targets and targets are extrapolated from individual trial data and meta-analyses.
 - Our content expert suggests that, for consistency with secondary prevention, efforts should be made to strive to achieve the targets in intermediate to high risk primary prevention patients.

Case Step 5 Managing side effects

CASE DECISION POINT Even though you are unsure about the evidence to support a recommendation to lower Mr Hayward's LDL to ≤2.0 mmol/L you decide to increase his dose of statin.

However Mr Hayward returns in two weeks complaining of generalized muscle soreness keeping him from his exercise routine. His liver enzymes and CK are normal but you suspect the high dose statin is causing his myalgias.

You discontinue the statin until his symptoms subside and put him back on his original lower dose. (See page 44 for other strategies to manage myopathic symptoms.)

You now wonder if you should add ezetimibe to try to reach his LDL target of ≤ 2.0 . mmol/L.

Combination Therapy with Ezetimibe

- Ezetimibe (Ezetrol) has a different mechanism of action than statins. It blocks the intestinal absorption of dietary and biliary cholesterol and related plant sterols, without affecting the uptake of triglycerides or fat-soluble vitamins. It can be administered alone or in combination with a statin. Ezetimibe is officially indicated as an adjunct to lifestyle changes, including diet, when the response to diet and other non-pharmacological measures alone has been inadequate.
- Ezetimibe has extensive evidence for lowering LDL which in turn, increases the proportion of patients reaching target lipid levels; however there is currently **no conclusive evidence** that it reduces cardiovascular events or mortality either alone or with statins. (See Appendix 3)
- The 2012 CCS guidelines¹ state that "no studies to date have demonstrated a decrease in CVD event rate with the addition of lipid-modulating drugs to statin therapy."
- ENHANCE³⁵ is the only RCT that compared a high dose of statin (simvastatin 80 mg) alone to the same dose plus ezetimibe 10 mg and was conducted in patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. After two years there was **no significant difference** in changes in the

thickness of carotid media between the two treatments despite ezetimibe/simvastatin lowering LDL to a greater extent (5.0 vs 3.7 mmol/L).

- There have been two published trials investigating the effect of ezetimibe in combination with simvastatin on clinical events in patients with aortic stenosis (the SEAS trial ³⁶) and chronic kidney disease (SHARP³⁷).
 - o Both studies compared the simvastatin/ezetimibe combination to **placebo**.
 - SEAS³⁶ (patients with aortic stenosis) showed **no** statistically significant **reduction** in the primary composite endpoint, although there was a significant reduction in CABG surgeries in the treatment arm.
 - SHARP³⁷ (patients with chronic kidney disease, n=9270, 4.9 years) showed a significant reduction in a composite of adverse coronary events with the use of simvastatin/ezetimibe (Table 5).
 - There was **no benefit** in overall **mortality**.
 - Placebo 24.1% vs Sim+Eze 24.6%

Table 5 Results of primary outcome of SHARP ³⁷

	Even	t Rate			NNT for 4.9 yrs		
Efficacy outcomes	Placebo n=4620	Sim+Eze n=4650	ARR	RRR	NNT	95% CI	
Primary outcome – cardiac death, non-fatal MI, stroke, revascularization	13.4%	11.3%	2.1%	16%	48	29 to 134	

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; NNT, number needed to treat; CI, confidence intervals: sim+eze, simvastatin 20 mg+ezetimibe 10 mg

• It is **not possible** to determine whether the addition of ezetimibe in these trials conferred more benefit than would have been seen with the use of simvastatin alone.

Negative studies of ezetimibe are summarized in Appendix 2 along with other negative studies.

One pending trial, IMPROVE-IT, is comparing simvastatin monotherapy to a simvastatin/ezetimibe combination for the prevention of cardiovascular events. Primary completion of data collection is expected by June 2013.

Case Step 6 Combination therapy CASE DECISION POINT

Because of the lack of clinical outcome studies and the uncertainty about an LDL target of $\leq 2 \text{ mmol/L}$, you decide not to add ezetimibe to his regular dose of statin even though his LDL is not $\leq 2 \text{ mmol/L}$.

You further encourage him to continue with his positive lifestyle changes.



Choice of Statin and Monitoring

The choice of statin and monitoring depend on whether you decide to treat to a specific LDL target.

Option 1: Treat to target

- If you decide to treat to target and lower LDL by 50% or to ≤ 2mmol/L you will probably need to prescribe a high potency statin such as atorvastatin or rosuvastatin (see Appendix 5). You will also need to monitor LDL levels to determine if the target is being reached.
 - The Canadian Guideline¹ recommends obtaining a fasting lipoprotein profile before starting drug therapy for dyslipidemia. Patients should refrain from alcohol for 24 h to 48 h.
 - The lipoprotein profile should include TC, HDL, and TRIGL. The LDL is derived from the Friedewald formula and is considered accurate for TRIGL levels of less than 5 mmol/L.
 - Also obtain baseline fasting glucose and TSH to identify diabetes or hypothyroidism and baseline ALT, CK, and creatinine.
 - The 2012 Guideline states "Baseline transaminases (ALT), creatinine, and creatine kinase are useful to monitor potential side effects associated with therapy. There is however no indication for routine repeat measures of ALT and creatine kinase in patients using statin therapy unless symptoms develop."
 - Our content expert suggests checking the lipoprotein profile and liver function (ALT) at 6 to 8 weeks and then semi-annually.
 - Note: it is not necessary to check AST and ALT. ALT is sufficient.

Option 2: Don't treat to target

- You may decide not to treat to a specific target because most outcome benefit is seen at the initial dose of statin therapy and 2/3 of the lipid-lowering effect of a statin is realized at the starting dose. Thereafter, doubling the dose will lower LDL by only a further 4% to 7%.³⁸ For example if a dose of atorvastatin 20 mg lowered LDL by 40%, doubling the dose might lower LDL to about 47%.
 - In this case you may wish to follow UK recommendations,¹² an approach similar to that suggested by a Canadian family physician.³⁸
 - "When the decision has been made to prescribe a statin, it is recommended that therapy should usually be initiated with a low cost drug." (See appendix 5 for costs.)
 - "Once a person has been started on a statin for primary prevention, repeat lipid measurement is unnecessary. Clinical judgement and patient preference should guide the review of drug therapy and whether to review the lipid profile."
- > The decision on which approach to take may also be influenced by patient preferences.
- Whichever approach is adopted it is important to emphasize the need for a healthy lifestyle

 physical activity, tobacco avoidance, normal body weight, and prudent diet.

Lipid Lowering in Women in Primary Prevention

- It is not well established whether the protective effect of statins is equal for women and men.³⁹
- Evidence for the efficacy of statins in the **primary** prevention of CVD in women is limited for the following reasons:
 - Major RCTs have not enrolled high percentages of women.
 - Earlier RCTs were focused on hard coronary outcomes rather than broader definitions of cardiovascular outcomes.
 - A meta-analysis published in 2004⁴⁰ suggested that although the summary estimate suggests a reduction in CHD events, the small number of events limits the ability to make a firm conclusion about the true magnitude of benefit.
 - Data indicate that women's risks for stroke and heart failure through middle and older age typically exceeds their risk for CHD, in contrast to the pattern observed in men, for whom CHD risk increases earlier.⁴¹
- Two recently conducted RCTs have enrolled larger numbers of women in primary prevention.
 - **JUPITER**³³ included 6801 women over the age of 60 with normal LDL and elevated hsCRP; however the study has been criticized for methodological problems and reporting inconsistencies (see Appendix 1 for details of JUPITER).
 - <u>Primary outcome</u>: combined outcome of MI, stroke, hospitalization for unstable angina, arterial revascularization or cardiovascular death.
 - There was benefit in the primary outcome though the NNT was high (Table 6). Hospitalizations for unstable angina and arterial revascularization were the only two components of the primary outcome with statistically significant benefit.
 - <u>LDL</u>: In women levels dropped from 2.8 to 1.4 mmol/L (51%). In men levels dropped 49%.
 - For the complete trial, 89,890 patients were screened and 17,802 met the inclusion criteria for randomization which may limit its applicability to most women in primary prevention.
 - The Japanese trial, **MEGA**³⁴ included 5356 postmenopausal women with elevated cholesterol (TC 5.7 to 7.0 mmol/L) aged 40 to 70 years and lasted 5.3 years.
 - Intervention: pravastatin 10 mg or 20 mg per day plus diet vs diet alone
 - <u>Primary outcome</u>: fatal and nonfatal MI, cardiac and sudden death, coronary revascularization procedure, and angina
 - <u>LDL</u>: In women levels dropped from 4.1 to 3.3 mmol/L (19%). In men levels dropped 18%.
 - The primary outcome and total cardiovascular events were not statistically significant.
 - Primary outcome hazard ratio 0.74 (95% CI 0.45 to 1.23)
 - Total CV events hazard ratio 0.71 (95% CI 0.50 to 1.01)⁴²



• Table 6 and Table 7 show the primary outcomes for men and women in JUPITER and MEGA. Note the larger NNT for women.

Table 6 Primary outcome of JUPITER for men and women⁴³

Car	Eve	ent Rate			NNT for 1.9 yrs	
Sex	Placebo	Rosuv 20 mg	ARR	KKK	NNT	95% CI
Women	2.1%	1.1%	0.9%	45%	107	65 to 296
Men	3.3%	1.9%	1.4%	43%	72	50 to 125

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; NNT, number needed to treat; CI, confidence intervals; rosuv, rosuvastatin

Primary outcome = MI, stroke, CV death, hospitalization for UA, arterial revascularization

Table 7 Primary outcome of MEGA for men and women⁴²

0	Ev	ent Rate			NNT	for 5.3 yrs	
Sex	Diet	Diet + Prav	ARR	RKK	NNT	95% CI	
Women	1.3%	1.0%	0.3%	26%	295 [°]	NS	
Men	3.9%	2.5%	1.4%	36%	71	36 to 8148	

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; NNT, number needed to treat; CI, confidence intervals; prav, pravastatin

a NNT presented for demonstration purposes. NNT should not normally be presented for non-significant results

Primary outcome = MI, cardiac and sudden death, angina, coronary revascularization

- The most recent meta-analysis of the efficacy of statins in women for primary prevention included JUPITER, MEGA and AFCAPS.⁴³ It looked at data from trials that contained only primary prevention subjects and described outcomes as total CVD events (Table 8)
 - For total CVD events there was benefit RR 0.63: 95% CI 0.49 to 0.82 p<0.001
 - There was **no** statistically significant **benefit** found in total **mortality**.
 - Because of the published criticisms of JUPITER^{15,44} (see Appendix 1) we conducted an analysis of CVD outcomes with data from only MEGA and AFCAPS. For total CVD events, the decrease in total CVD events was **not statistically significant** (RR 0.72, 95% CI 0.51 to 1.01).

Study	Ν	Duration	CVD outcomes included
JUPITER ⁴³	6801	1.9 years	MI, unstable angina, CV death, revascularization, stroke
MEGA ⁴²	5356	5.3 years	MI, angina, cardiac & sudden death, revascularization, stroke
AFCAPS ³⁰	997	5.2 years	MI, unstable angina, sudden cardiac death, revascularization

Table 8 Characteristics of studies included in meta-analysis of women⁴³



- The Canadian, ¹ Australian, ⁴ and UK Guidelines ¹² do not provide any therapeutic differentiation for their treatment recommendations between women and men.
- In 2011, the American Heart Association published an update of effectiveness-based guidelines for the prevention of CV disease in women.⁴¹
 - These guidelines offer a unique classification of CVD risk in women and define a new concept of "ideal cardiovascular health" which includes
 - The absence of clinical CVD
 - The presence of all ideal levels of cholesterol, BP and fasting blood sugar, and
 - Adherence to healthy behaviours.
- Evidence from a meta-analysis supports the benefit of statins in women in secondary prevention but absolute risk reduction in women was constantly lower than that in men leading to higher number needed to treat.³⁹

> Academic detailing comments about primary prevention in women

- Statins might provide some benefit in preventing CVD events in women. However there are limitations in the evidence (few women in studies, few events, few studies, inconsistent results).
- The lower baseline risk for CVD in women compared to men is acknowledged in the point system in the FRS.
- Because women may have a lower baseline risk of CVD than men, their absolute benefit may be lower and the NNTs will be higher as observed in JUPITER and MEGA.
- Clinicians will need to discuss the benefits and possible adverse events of statin treatment.

Lipid Lowering in the Elderly in Primary Prevention

- ➤ Theoretically, the elderly (≥ 65 years) and very elderly (≥ 80 years) should experience greater absolute benefit from lipid lowering therapy because age is the greatest determinant of baseline risk which will therefore increase with increasing age.
- However, there are a number of uncertainties when considering the need for primary prevention of CVD in the elderly and the very elderly.
 - The Framingham Risk Score calculations are not designed for use in patients over 74 years old. <u>http://www.framinghamheartstudy.org/risk/gencardio.html#</u> ^{45,46} However, some risk calculators including the one in the Canadian guideline have a category of 75+ years.
 - The 2012 guidelines acknowledge this limitation and suggest that clinical judgement is required in consultation with the patient to determine the value of pharmacotherapy in those older than 75 years of age.¹



- The power of the classic risk factors (age, sex, SBP, total cholesterol and HDL, diabetes, smoking and ECG-based left ventricular hypertrophy) to accurately predict risk of cardiovascular disease seems to diminish with advancing age.⁴⁷
- Epidemiological studies show a weaker relationship between cholesterol levels and CV morbidity and mortality in the elderly and very elderly.^{48,49}
 - Some studies show a positive relationship with total cholesterol and CVD while others do not.⁴⁹
 - In the very elderly there is evidence that increased morbidity and mortality is associated with lower cholesterol levels.⁵⁰ This may be because people with high cholesterol have already died or serious illness leads to lower cholesterol levels.
- o RCTs have included few primary prevention patients over 65 years old.
- PROSPER⁵¹ was the only RCT that addressed lipid lowering treatment specifically in the elderly (pravastatin 40 mg vs placebo; n=5804; mean 3.2 years)
 - Age: inclusion 70 to 82 years, mean 75 years.
 - o 56% of subjects were primary prevention
 - LDL in pravastatin group: 3.8 mmol/L \rightarrow 2.5 mmol/L (34% reduction)
 - In the overall population (primary and secondary prevention groups combined) pravastatin showed benefit in the primary combined outcome of CHD death, non-fatal MI, and stroke (Table 9).

Efficacy outcome in primary	Eve	ent Rate		NNT for 3.2 yr		NNT for 3.2 y	for 3.2 yrs
and secondary prevention population	Placebo n=2913	Pravastatin n=2891	ARR	RRR	NNT	95% CI	
Primary outcome: composite of non- fatal MI, stroke, CHD death	16.2%	14.1%	2.1%	13%	47	25 to 358	

Table 9 Primary outcome in combined primary and secondary prevention groups of PROSPER⁵¹

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; NNT, number needed to treat.

- Sub-group analysis showed there was **no statistically significant benefit** in the primary outcome of CHD death, non-fatal MI, or stroke in the **primary prevention** group
 - Event rate placebo 12.1% vs pravastatin 11.4% (not significant)
 - Hazard ratio 0.94 (95% CI 0.77 to 1.15).
 - The lack of statistically significant difference raises the possibility of lack of benefit from statins in **primary** prevention even though the test for heterogeneity between primary and secondary prevention was negative.
- There was **no** statistically significant **reduction** overall **mortality** from pravastatin therapy in the **combined** primary and secondary groups.
- A meta-analysis of **secondary** prevention studies in the elderly obtained data from PROSPER that showed a statistically significant 18% **decrease** in all-cause mortality from pravastatin therapy in the **secondary** prevention group.⁵²



- Since the **overall** results of PROSPER showed **no benefit** in mortality, this implies a possible **increase** in mortality in the **primary** prevention group from pravastatin therapy.⁵³
- JUPITER is a primary prevention study in which investigators performed an exploratory secondary analysis of the elderly population (N= 5695) included in the trial.⁸²
 - Publications have pointed out **methodological limitations** of JUPITER (see Appendix 1) and so results of this exploratory analysis should be interpreted with caution.
 - A **benefit** was reported in the primary outcome from rosuvastatin 20 mg in patients 70 to 97 years old (median age 74, interquartile range 72 to 78), but the NNTs over 2 years were high, and the confidence intervals wide.

Outcome	NNT	95% Cls
Primary outcome (non-fatal MI, non-fatal stroke, hospitalization for UA,		
revascularization, CV death)	62	39 to 148
Myocardial infarction	211	106 to 32,924
Revascularization or hospitalization for UA	102	62 to 292
Stroke	161	86 to 1192
Overall mortality	Not stat	istically significant

- The 2012 CTT meta-analysis³ analyzed the decrease in major vascular events per 1 mmol/L lowering of LDL in three age categories: < 60 years, 61 to 70 years, and >70 years.
 - Patients up to age 70 showed benefit in all levels of baseline risk.
 - In patients >70 years old there was no statistically significant benefit in those with 5year baseline risk of <10% which would be more representative of the primary prevention population.
 - However the number of events was small and the confidence intervals were wide indicating the lack of research in this primary prevention age group and the uncertainty of results.
- Statins have not been found efficacious in decreasing decline in cognition^{46,12} and in some cases have been reported to cause memory and cognitive impairment (see section on adverse effects page 42.)
- Age has been reported to be a risk factor for statin-induced adverse effects. 55,56,



Interpretation and application to practice

- Review articles in primary prevention state that
 - Insufficient evidence is available to guide evidence-based approaches to cholesterol lowering for primary prevention of CVD after age 75.^{46,54}
 - "The optimal cholesterol level for people aged 80 or above is not known, neither is it known whether lipid lowering drugs should be used in this age group."⁵⁰
- A consideration when deciding to prescribe therapy for the elderly in **primary** prevention is if their expected lifespan is likely to be long enough for the benefit of statins if any, to be realized. Most primary prevention studies took 3 to 4 years to achieve a 1% absolute risk reduction in their primary outcomes^{29,30,34} and it has been suggested that statins should be considered for primary prevention for elderly patients with a life expectancy of 5 years.⁶⁶
- When treating for primary prevention, consideration should be given to the decreased life expectancy, increased co-morbidities, risk of polypharmacy, and increased risk of adverse reactions in the geriatric population. In addition, cost implications play an increasingly important role as this demographic continues to increase.⁵⁷
- Guidelines and reviews tend to recommend treatment of the elderly at high risk but have some reservations about treating the very elderly.
 - "There is not sufficient data to recommend anything regarding initiation or continuation of lipid-lowering treatment for the population 80+, with known CVD, and it is even possible that statins may increase all-cause mortality in this group of elderly individuals without CVD."⁵⁰
- > <u>A 2009 primary prevention review article</u> states⁴⁶
 - It may be reasonable to consider statin treatment to achieve an LDL level of < 2.6 mmol/L in persons 75 to 80 years old who are in excellent health.
 - In those \ge 80 years old, the decision to treat cholesterol should be individualized and made in close consultation with the patient.
 - Most elderly patients should achieve an LDL level <2.6 mmol/L on moderate dose of statins and high dose therapy should be reserved for those at highest risk and used with caution with advancing age.
 - Avoid lipid lowering drugs other than statins because of lack of demonstrable safety and safety concerns in the elderly.
 - Undertake lipid management within the context of controlling other risk factors such as hypertension, smoking and other prophylactic measures such as aspirin, which have been shown to benefit older adults.
- The NICE UK Guideline¹² states
 - People aged 75 or older should be considered at increased risk of CVD, particularly people who smoke or have raised blood pressure. They are likely to benefit from statin treatment.
 - Assessment and treatment should be guided by the benefits and risks of treatment, informed preference and comorbidities that may make treatment inappropriate.

- > <u>The New Zealand Guideline</u>⁵⁸on stopping medications in older people recommends
 - The decision to stop a statin is based on an assessment of individual benefits and risks. For example, stopping may be justified in a person at relatively low risk of a cardiovascular event, who is also poorly compliant or experiencing troublesome adverse effects. In most cases statins can be stopped without the need for tapering.
 - Statins should **not** be stopped in patients with a history of cardiovascular events including acute coronary syndrome, myocardial infarction, and stroke.
- > <u>The European Cardiovascular Society</u>⁵⁸ guideline states
 - In some age categories in the elderly, the vast majority, especially of men, will have estimated CV risks exceeding the 15–30% level, based on age (and gender) only, even when other CV risk factor levels are relatively low.
 - This could lead to excessive usage of drugs in the elderly and should be evaluated carefully by the clinician.
 - Statin therapy may be considered in elderly subjects free of CVD, particularly in the presence of at least one other CV risk factor besides age. Class 2b recommendation

Academic Detailing Comments

- The Framingham Risk Score calculations are based on studies that included subjects between 30 and 74 years old. If used in patients over 74 years old, results should be interpreted with caution.
- In the elderly >70 years old, there is no conclusive evidence of statistically significant decrease in **mortality** in **primary** prevention.
- There is uncertainty in the evidence for efficacy of statins in **primary** prevention of CVD events in the elderly because the main study involving the elderly did not show a benefit in the primary prevention sub-group.
- The elderly are reported to be more prone to adverse effects.



Statin Use in Severe Frailty

This is an evidence-informed consensus developed in collaboration with PATH, the Palliative and Therapeutic Harmonization Program. www.pathclinic.ca

Recommendations

These recommendations consider the significant impact and decreased life expectancy of **severe frailty**.

Primary Prevention: It is unlikely that statins provide benefit in applicable outcomes and so there is no reason to prescribe or continue statins for primary prevention.

Secondary Prevention: With severe frailty there is

- Uncertainty about whether statin trial outcomes are clinically meaningful
- Uncertainty about whether statins confer benefit in clinically meaningful outcomes
- Uncertainty about the magnitude of any benefit conferred partly because of the decreased life expectancy in severe frailty
- Increased potential for adverse events.

Therefore, statin treatment in severe frailty is probably not necessary, although there may be extenuating individualized circumstances that shift the risk/benefit ratio.

<u>Heart failure</u>: There is no reason to start or continue statins for heart failure.

<u>Ezetimibe</u>: There is no reason to start or continue ezetimibe for primary or secondary prevention.

<u>Combination therapy with statins</u>: There is no reason to start or continue other lipid lowering drugs in conjunction with statins.

<u>Adverse events</u>: Consider a trial of discontinuation of statin therapy if there is concern about myalgias, cognitive impairment, or drug interactions from polypharmacy.

Statin dosing: If statins are to be used, use lower doses.

- ➤ This consensus approach is intended for patients who are ≥ 7 on the Clinical Frailty Scale (CFS) (See Appendix 6 for Frailty Scale). It is also applicable to most older adults living in long term care facilities, who are typically severely frail, e.g. completely dependent for personal care.
- > The average life expectancy in Nova Scotia long term care facilities is 2.5 years.⁷⁸



Guiding Principles of Pharmacotherapy in the Frail elderly

- Guideline-driven care contributes to polypharmacy in the elderly; however, what is good for the disease may not be good for the patient.⁷⁹
 - An analysis of the applicability of clinical practice guidelines to elderly patients with comorbidities showed that only a handful adequately addressed issues related to the care of elderly patients. The authors suggest there is a pressing need to improve the evidence base that guides the care of people of advanced age and with multiple concurrent chronic diseases.⁸⁰
- For many, the goal of therapy with frailty is to maintain or improve quality of life rather than prolong life. Maintenance or improvement of quality of life can mean
 - o Optimizing function, mobility, and cognition
 - o Minimizing symptomatic non-fatal MI and the disabling effects of stroke
 - Minimizing polypharmacy, adverse events, and unnecessary investigations including lab tests.
- Patients with severe frailty have more functional limitations and are less likely to benefit from therapies designed to prevent further disability.⁹¹
- > The following questions can help guide decisions for therapy in the frail elderly ^{83,85}
 - o Is the person's life expectancy long enough to achieve benefit?
 - o Are trial outcomes clinically meaningful for the frail elderly?
 - o Are there clinically significant adverse effects or drug interactions?
 - o Does the medication match the goals of care?

Evidence in the frail elderly

We found **no studies** that reported the effect of lipid lowering in the **severe frail** elderly in primary or secondary prevention. Therefore we examined studies in the **non-frail** elderly to determine if they reported outcomes that were meaningful and could be applied to the **frail** elderly.

Relevant outcomes in the frail elderly

- When examining outcomes in statin studies in the **non-frail elderly**, we need to consider whether they will be applicable to the frail. Points to consider include:
 - <u>Mortality:</u> There are competing causes for mortality in the frail elderly; therefore we cannot assume that a mortality benefit shown in non-frail populations applies to frail populations. In addition, the goals of therapy may not be to prolong life in the frail.
 - <u>CHD events</u>: For the frail elderly the important outcome is **symptomatic** non-fatal MI (e.g., leading to morbidity such as angina or heart failure.) In some statin studies, the primary composite outcome and the outcome of CHD events include those with **asymptomatic** heart disease such as silent MIs. Preventing asymptomatic heart disease might not prevent morbidity for the frail. Therefore, the outcome of CHD events, as reported in studies of the non-frail, **might not** be applicable to the frail.



 <u>Stroke:</u> For the frail elderly, the important outcome is **non-fatal stroke leading to** disability. However, sometimes the outcome of non-fatal stroke includes mild strokes and TIAs and the number of strokes leading to disability is not reported separately. Therefore, the outcome of non-fatal stroke as reported in studies of the non-frail might not be applicable to the frail.

Evidence in Primary Prevention in the non-frail elderly

- PROSPER is the only RCT which studied the effect of a statin (pravastatin 40 mg) exclusively in the elderly (ages 70-82).⁵¹
 - **There was no statistically significant benefit (NS)** in the primary composite or individual secondary outcomes in the primary prevention group.

	Event r	Statistical	
Outcome	Placebo	Pravastatin	Significance
Primary composite outcome (CHD death, non-fatal MI, fatal or non-fatal stroke	e) 12.1%	11.4%	NS
Individual secondary outcomes	0.00/	7.00/	NG
Fatal and non-fatal MI Fatal and non-fatal stroke	8.8% 3.7%	7.9%	NS NS
TIA	2.3%	1.9%	NS

- The lack of statistical significant difference raises the possibility of lack of benefit from statins in primary prevention even though the test for heterogeneity between primary and secondary prevention groups was negative.
- JUPITER is a primary prevention study in which investigators performed a secondary analysis of the elderly population included in the trial. The study compared rosuvastatin 20 mg to placebo in patients 70 to 97 years old (median age 74, interquartile range 72 to 78).⁸²
 - They report a **benefit** in the primary outcome and its individual components, but the NNTs over **2 years** were high.
 - We do not know how many MIs and strokes were symptomatic.

Outcome	NNT	95% Cls
Primary outcome (non-fatal MI, non-fatal		
stroke, hospitalization for UA,		
revascularization, CV death)	62	39 to 148
Myocardial infarction	211	106 to 32,924
Revascularization or hospitalization for UA	102	62 to 292
Stroke	161	86 to 1192



- Publications have pointed out methodological limitations of JUPITER (see Appendix 1 for detailed critique).
 - JUPITER was stopped early, which likely exaggerates the magnitude of benefit. As shown above the absolute benefit was small and NNTs high.
 - The trial included a select patient population with normal LDL and elevated hsCRP. Of the 90,000 patients screened, 72,000 did not meet inclusion criteria and were not enrolled in the trial.
- > The study populations in PROSPER⁵¹ and JUPITER⁸² were **non-frail** elderly.

Evidence in Secondary prevention in the non-frail elderly

- Secondary prevention was defined as the presence of coronary artery disease in most studies. Although PROSPER⁵¹ and HPS³¹ included those with vascular disease such as peripheral vascular disease, the majority had CHD (71% in PROSPER and 87% in HPS). Any benefit demonstrated in these trials may therefore be most applicable to patients with CHD.
- In the PROSPER⁵¹ trial, for secondary prevention, there was benefit in the primary composite outcome and the combined outcome of CHD death and non-fatal MI (Table 10). However, the outcome of non-fatal MI included definite and suspect events.

Efficacy outcome in secondary	Ev	ent Rate			NNT for 3.2 yrs	
prevention population	Placebo n=1259	Pravastatin n=1306	ARR	RRR	NNT	95% CI
Primary outcome: composite of non-fatal MI, stroke, CHD death	21.7%	17.4%	4.3%	20%	23	14 to 81
CHD death and non-fatal MI (includes definite and <i>suspect</i> events)	16.8%	12.7%	4.1%	24%	25	15 to 77

Table 10 Outcomes in secondary prevention group of PROSPER⁵¹

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; NNT, number needed to treat, calculated on raw numbers.

- Time to benefit: For secondary prevention, it took approximately 3 years to achieve a 4% ARR in CHD and non-fatal MI. As mentioned above, this outcome included those with definite and suspect events. Therefore, we question if this outcome is clinically relevant to frail older adults.
- There was **no benefit** in the combined outcomes of **fatal and non-fatal stroke** or **TIAs** (Table 11).



- A recent meta-analysis of **secondary** prevention studies in the **non-frail** elderly (9 studies, 19,569 patients, age range 65 to 82) found benefit from statins in reducing all cause mortality and in preventing non-fatal MI and stroke in a population of patients with CHD.⁵² The authors calculated the following NNTs **over 5 years:**
 - Stroke NNT = 58 (95% Cl 27 to 177)
 - Stroke was not defined and includes fatal and non-fatal stroke.
 - o The outcome of non-fatal stroke includes disabling and non-disabling strokes.
 - The NNT to prevent one disabling stroke is therefore uncertain and cannot be calculated from the data provided.

For instance, in the largest study included in the meta-analysis, only 43% of strokes in the overall study population (not just the elderly population) were severe enough to be disabling.³¹

- Non-fatal MI NNT = 38 (95% CI 16 to 118)
 - Non-fatal MI includes symptomatic and asymptomatic (silent) events. Therefore, the ability of statins to prevent symptomatic MIs cannot be calculated from the data provided.
- There was benefit in mortality but our content experts do not consider this to be an important outcome, as frailty poses too many competing risks for mortality.
- With the exception of PROSPER⁵¹, the meta-analysis included younger elderly patients, with mean age of < 70 years, which limits the relevance of the results when applied to frailty.

Heart Failure

- We found two studies in heart failure patients whose mean age was 68 (GISSI-HF)⁷⁰ and 73 (CORONA).⁶⁹ In both studies there was no significant benefit from rosuvastatin 10 mg despite LDL lowering of 27% and 45% respectively.
 - o **GISSI-HF** (n=4574, mean age 68, duration 3.9 years, rosuvastatin 10 mg vs placebo)⁷⁰
 - The authors of GISSI-HF describe their study subjects as being frail. It is unlikely they had severe frailty (i.e., CFS 7).
 - 40% of patients had heart failure of ischemic origin
 - 44% were \geq 70 years old
 - NYHA class II 62%; NYHA class III 35%
 - There was no significant benefit in
 - Co-primary outcomes of mortality and hospitalization for CVD (rosuvastatin 57%, placebo 56%) or the
 - Secondary outcomes of fatal and non-fatal MI (rosuvastatin 2.7%, placebo 3.1%) and fatal and non-fatal stroke (rosuvastatin 3.6%, placebo 2.9%)



- **CORONA** (n=5011, mean age 73, duration 2.7 years, rosuvastatin 10 mg vs placebo)⁶⁹
 - Subjects in CORONA were older and a greater percentage of patients were NYHA class III than in GISSI-HF, so it is possible they too were frail.
 - 41% were \geq 70 years old
 - NYHA class II 37%; NYHA class III 61%
 - There was no significant benefit in the primary outcome of CV mortality, non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke (rosuvastatin 27.5%, placebo 29.3%).

Stroke

- Disabling stroke that worsens function is considered an important outcome in the frail elderly. The outcome of stroke from PROSPER,⁵¹ JUPITER⁸² and the Afilalo meta-analysis⁵² is summarized separately in Table 11. Interpretation of this data is limited by the fact that the stroke outcome includes disabling and non-disabling strokes.
- Note that after 3.2 years there was no benefit in stroke reduction in PROSPER for both primary and secondary prevention.⁵¹
- The secondary prevention meta-analysis in the elderly demonstrated a stroke benefit of less than 2% ARR over 5 years resulting in an NNT of 58 and wide confidence intervals (27 to 177).⁵²
- After 2 years, JUPITER did show benefit in stroke for primary prevention, but this was very small with a large NNT and wide confidence intervals, NNT 161 (86 to 1192).⁸²

Dosing of statins

- Doses of statins depend on potency which refers to the LDL lowering effect per milligram of drug taken. Atorvastatin and rosuvastatin are considered high potency and require lower doses to achieve the same LDL lowering as lower potency statins.
- Statin doses used in PROSPER⁵¹ and trials included in the Afilalo meta-analysis⁵² were as follows:
 - Atorvastatin 10 mg
 Rosuvastatin 10 mg
 - o Simvastatin 10 to 40 mg Pravastatin 40 mg Fluvastatin 80 mg
- High doses of statins are associated with increased adverse effects⁵⁶ and uncertain benefit, especially when the standard of disabling outcomes is considered.
- > If statins are to be used, we suggest doses no higher than above, and possibly lower.

Table 11 Stroke outcomes in statin studies in the elderly

Primary Prevention:	Eve	nt Rate	APP or	PPP		
Efficacy outcomes	Placebo Statin		ARI	or RRI	NNT	95% CI
PROSPER ⁵¹ mean age 75 years,			NNT for 3	3.2 yrs		
Fatal or non fatal stroke	N=1654 3.8%	N=1585 3.9%	ARI 0.1%	RRI 2.7%	NS	NS
Transient Ischemic Attack	2.3%	1.9%	0.4%	18%	NS	NS
JUPITER ⁸² (Secondary analysis of a	age 70 -97, medi	an 74 IQR 72-78 yrs)			NNT for 2 y	rs
Stroke (percent based on raw number of events)	N=2817 1.4%	N =2878 0.8%	0.6%	45%	161	86 -1192

Secondary Prevention: Efficacy outcomes	Event Rate Placebo Treatment		ARR	RRR	NNT	95% CI
Afilalo (Meta-analysis of elderly sub	groups) ⁵² age	range 65 to 82			NNT for 5 yrs	
Stroke (disabling and <i>non-disabling</i>)	N=8698 7.0%	N=8723 5.3%	1.8%	1.8%		27 to 177
PROSPER ⁵¹ (mean age 75 years, Pra	vastatin 40 mg	daily)			NNT for 3	3.2 yrs
Fatal and non fatal stroke	N=1259 5.5%	N = 1306 5.7%	ARI 0.2%	RRI 3.4%	NS	NS
TIA	5.1%	3.6%	1.5%	29%	NS	NS

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; ARI, absolute risk increase; RRI, relative risk increase; TIA, Transient Ischemic Attack; IQR, interquartile range NS = not statistically significant, i.e., p > 0.05 and numbers needed to treat (NNTs) not calculated on these results

Ezetimibe, combination therapy and adverse effects

- Ezetimibe has extensive evidence for lowering LDL; however there is currently no conclusive evidence that it reduces cardiovascular events or mortality either alone or with statins in any population.
- The 2012 CCS Guidelines state, "No studies to date have demonstrated a decrease in CVD event rate with the addition of lipid modulating drugs to statin therapy".¹
- > Two adverse events that may impair quality of life are myalgias and cognitive impairment.
 - o Myopathy
 - RCT evidence reports incidence rates of 1.5-5%, which is comparable to placebo. Clinical trials use differing definitions for myopathy and tend to exclude individuals with previous intolerance or who experience adverse effects during run-in periods.⁵⁶



- Clinical experience suggests that muscle adverse effects are relatively common, reported as 29% in the general population.⁵⁹
- Myalgias typically develop within the first 6 months but may occur at any time during treatment. Symptoms typically resolve within 2 months of stopping statins.⁵⁶
- Advanced age, frailty, severe renal or liver disease are considered risk factors for myopathy.⁵⁶
- Cognitive impairment: Due to case reports of memory loss, the FDA issued a warning that statins have been associated with memory loss and confusion.

http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm293101.htm Aggression and irritability have also been reported. It may be difficult to tell if a statin is causing or aggravating such symptoms when individuals have dementia.

Interpretation of evidence

- Clinical trials are not available to provide direction on whether statins provide benefit in outcomes that are meaningful to **the frail elderly** in either primary or secondary populations.
- Symptomatic non-fatal MI and non-fatal disabling stroke are considered meaningful outcomes in the frail elderly since they can lead to further disability; however, the degree of disability is not consistently reported in studies of the non-frail elderly.
- We reviewed the clinical trials enrolling **non-frail elderly** patients (the most relevant trial, PROSPER⁵¹, included patients up to age 82) to consider whether the results could be extrapolated to the **frail elderly**.
 - We concluded that extrapolation from these trials is not a valid approach to guide prescribing in the **frail elderly** because the patient populations are too different; trials enrolled relatively healthy participants without the number of competing causes for morbidity and mortality typical of the frail elderly population.
 - Of all the trials, the one that is the closest to representing the older elderly population, albeit without frailty, is the PROSPER⁵¹ trial and in primary prevention it reported no statistically significant benefit in the outcomes of CHD death and non-fatal MI, fatal and non-fatal stroke, and TIAs.
 - The more recent primary prevention trial that included the elderly (JUPITER⁸²) is even less applicable to the frail elderly since it included a very select population with normal LDL and high hsCRP. JUPITER had other methodological issues that limit generalizability. Any benefit shown was associated with small absolute benefit and high NNTs.
- In the non-frail elderly population for primary prevention, there is evidence that statins provide little⁸² to no⁵¹ benefit in meaningful outcomes.
- In non-frail elderly for secondary prevention, the NNTs for statins over 5 years to prevent both symptomatic and asymptomatic outcomes⁵² may be appropriate in the non-frail. However since the severely frail elderly have (1) shortened life expectancy; (2) many competing risks for morbidity and mortality, and (3) increased risk for adverse effects from medication, the benefit of statins is uncertain. In addition, there is uncertainty about the NNT to treat if the focus is on clinically meaningful outcomes.



Suggested approach for statin therapy in the frail elderly

- In the absence of evidence in the frail elderly, and recognizing the limitations of applying evidence from studies of the non-frail elderly, and in consultation with local experts, we suggest the following approach:
 - <u>Primary prevention</u>: It is unlikely that statins provide benefit in applicable outcomes and so there is no reason to prescribe or continue statins for primary prevention.
 - o <u>Secondary Prevention</u>: With severe frailty there is
 - Uncertainty about whether statin trial outcomes are clinically meaningful
 - Uncertainty about whether statins confer benefit in clinically meaningful outcomes
 - Uncertainty about the magnitude of any benefit conferred partly because of the decreased life expectancy in severe frailty
 - Increased potential for adverse events

Therefore, statin treatment in severe frailty is probably not necessary, although there may be extenuating individualized circumstances that shift the risk/benefit ratio.

- <u>Heart failure</u>: There is evidence that statins are ineffective in improving clinical outcomes in the elderly and there is no reason to start or continue them for this indication.
- <u>Ezetimibe</u>: There is currently no conclusive evidence that ezetimibe reduces cardiovascular events or mortality either alone or with statins in any population. There is no reason to start or continue ezetimibe for primary or secondary prevention.
- <u>Combination therapy with statins</u>: There is no evidence of added benefit in clinical outcomes for combination therapies for either primary or secondary prevention in any population. These added medications can be stopped.
- Adverse effects: Advancing age is reported to be a risk factor for adverse effects of statins, which may alter the benefit to harm ratio.
 - Consider a trial of discontinuation of statin therapy if there is concern about myalgias, cognitive impairment, or drug interactions from polypharmacy.
- Statin dosing: If statins are to be used, we suggest doses no higher than the following, and possibly lower.
 - Atorvastatin 10 mg
 Rosuvastatin 10 mg
 - Simvastatin 10 to 40 mg
 Pravastatin 40 mg
 Fluvastatin 80 mg
- When prescribing, consider the life expectancy, evidence for meaningful outcomes, and possible adverse effects when making decisions about whether to initiate or continue statin therapy in severely frail patients.



Adverse Effects of Statins

Myopathy

- Myopathy is recognized as one of the main adverse effects that limits compliance with statin therapy. The precise mechanisms underlying statin myopathy are incompletely understood.
- Statin-related myopathy comprises myalgias (muscle pain, weakness, stiffness, and cramps), myositis, and rhabdomyolysis; different groups and studies use different definitions.
- RCT evidence suggests statin myopathy incidence is about 1.5% to 5.0% which is comparable to placebo.⁵⁵
- However, in real world clinical practice myalgias can affect up to 29% of persons prescribed statins, whereas rhabdomyolysis is rare and dose dependent.^{55,59,60}
- > The PRIMO⁶⁰ study of patients receiving high dose statins reported that
 - o 10.5% of patients reported myalgias. Of those 10.5%
 - More than 80% of patients reporting myalgia had not experienced similar symptoms before beginning statin treatment.
 - 25% had generalized symptoms
 - 25% reported tendon-associated pain
 - 4% had symptoms that warranted confinement to bed or cessation of employment,
 - 38% had symptoms that prevented moderate exertion during daily activity
- The USAGE internet survey study,⁵⁹ found that **29%** of respondents reported muscle-related side effects while taking a statin:
 - 25% were among current users and 60% among former users (P < 0.05).
 - The primary reason for discontinuing a statin was adverse effects (62%).
- Myalgia commonly develops within the first 6 months of starting statin therapy but may occur after several years. Symptoms typically resolve within 2 months of discontinuing the statin.⁵⁶
- Health Canada warns the regular use of 80 mg of simvastatin may lead to increased risk of myopathy/rhabdomyolysis, particularly during the first year of treatment.
- The recommended simvastatin dosage is 5 to 40 mg/day. Full details are at <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/medeff/advisories-avis/prof/_2012/zocor_hpc-cps-eng.php</u>
- Muscle biopsies show myopathic changes in some patients on statins and are not consistently related to symptoms or creatine kinase elevations.⁵⁵

Academic Detailing Service



Table 12 Risk factors for myopathy 55,56,67

Patient-related	Statin-related					
 Advanced age (age >80) Female sex Small body frame and frailty Hypothyroidism Alcoholism Grapefruit juice consumption Excessive physical activity Severe renal disease Major surgery History of myopathy with lipid-lowering therapy (self or family members) History of creatine kinase elevation Multisystem disease (particularly liver, kidney, or both) Genetic polymorphisms of CYP isozymes Use of illicit drugs (cocaine, amphetamines) 	 High-dose statin therapy Statin properties that may increase the risk of myopathy: Lipophilicity, high bioavailability, limited protein binding (Pravastatin is 50% protein bound, other statins are 90-98% bound.) Drug interactions*, i.e., Medications metabolized through cytochrome P450 (3A4 or 2C9) system. Some important examples are: Fibrates Aciole antifungals Nicotinic acid Macrolide antibiotics Digoxin HIV protease inhibitors Fusidic acid Nefazodone Rosuvastatin and pravastatin are reported to have fewer drug interactions. *Please consult pharmacist or drug interaction resources for a full list of interactions, statin-specific interactions, and the relative severity of interactions. 					

Assessment of CK elevation and statin-related myopathy

- If CK ≤ upper limit of normal (ULN) and without symptoms of muscle pain or weakness, no further CK testing is required unless symptoms occur, the dose of the statin is increased, or there is a switch to a different statin.
- > If CK elevations ≤ 5 times ULN without symptoms the statin can be continued with reassessment in 6-12 weeks or sooner if symptoms appear.
- In addition to searching for other causes of CK elevation and myopathy (Table 12), the following outlines a general approach to assessment and management. Refer to CCS on-line resources for greater details.

http://www.ccsguidelineprograms.ca/images/stories/Dyslipidemia Program/2012/statin intolerance canadian working group consensus.ppt%20read-only.pdf⁶⁸

- If the patient has symptoms without CK elevations, **the statin should be stopped** and restarted when asymptomatic. Reassess CK and symptoms in 6-12 weeks or sooner if symptoms reappear.
- If the patient has CK elevations (> 5 times ULN), with or without symptoms, the statin should be stopped and restarted when asymptomatic and when CK levels return to normal.
- The same statin can be restarted if the episode was mild. Alternatively, a lower dose or different statin can be tried. Monitoring enzymes and symptoms in 3-6 weeks is recommended or sooner if symptoms recur.
- If the episode was moderate to severe (CK > 10 times ULN), the patient should be assessed for rhabdomyolysis and consultation with a specialist is recommended before re-starting the statin.



Management of statin-related myopathy 56

- Several options are reported for managing the symptoms of myopathy; however most are not supported by high levels of evidence.
 - Switch to a statin with hydrophilic (rosuvastatin, pravastatin) rather than lipophilic characteristics or lower potency (fluvastatin) which may result in a lower risk of myopathy.
 - o Non-daily doses of statin.
 - Atorvastatin and rosuvastatin have long half-lives and may be suited to alternate day, or up to once weekly dosing.
 - Rosuvastatin, in reduced doses or reduced frequency of dosing, has been tested in small numbers of statin intolerant patients with success.
 - Once-weekly dosing of rosuvastatin 5-20 mg was tested in 10 patients with statin intolerance. LDL was reduced by 29% (6%-62%) in the 8 patients who were able to tolerate the weekly dosing.⁸⁸
 - A retrospective analysis of 51 patients with statin intolerance (76% due to myalgia) found that 73% tolerated alternate day dosing of rosuvastatin at a mean dose of 5.6 mg, achieving a reduction in LDL of 35%.⁸⁹

The reduction in cardiac events with such dosing regimens compared with daily dosing **requires study**.

- Use of an alternative classes of lipid lowering agents including, ezetimibe, niacin or fibrates or bile acid resins.
 - Ezetimibe does not have CV outcome evidence so while it may lower LDL, it is uncertain whether CV events will be reduced.
 - The 2012 CCS guidelines¹ state that "no studies to date have demonstrated a decrease in CVD event rate with the addition of lipid-modulating drugs to statin therapy."
- o Co enzyme Q10, vitamin D supplementation
 - Evidence is contradictory or insufficient to support using supplements to alleviate statin-related myalgia. ⁵⁶
 - **Canadian Guidelines 2012** do not recommend vitamins, minerals or supplements for symptoms of myalgia perceived to be statin-associated. (*Strong Recommendation, Very Low-Quality Evidence*)¹
- > There is generally no harm in stopping statins in the non-acute situation. ⁵⁶
 - Patients should be advised to stop medications if significant symptoms occur and call the prescribing physician, as blood tests may be indicated while symptomatic.

Statin Intolerance

- > Diagnosis of statin intolerance should be entertained only when
 - A patient reports symptoms associated with use of a statin (with or without abnormal laboratory findings)
 - o Symptoms resolve when the statin is stopped
 - o Symptoms recur with the same or a different statin⁵⁶
- The Canadian 2012 guidelines¹ state despite concerns about a variety of other possible adverse effects, all purported statin-associated symptoms should be evaluated systematically, incorporating observation during cessation, re-initiation (same or different statin, same or lower potency, same or decreased frequency of dosing) to identify a tolerated, statin-based therapy for chronic use. (Strong Recommendation, Very Low-Quality Evidence)

Liver disease 56

- Significant liver pathology attributable to statins is rare.
- The most commonly reported hepatic adverse effect is "transaminitis" (elevated liver enzyme levels in the absence of histopathological changes).
 - o Incidence of elevated aminotransferase levels (> 3 times ULN) is generally not greater than 3% of treated patients.
 - o It is a class effect, usually asymptomatic, reversible, dose-related, similar among all statins, and not correlated to the level of LDL reduction.
 - o Most cases of "transaminitis" resolve spontaneously without the need for drug discontinuation.
 - When serious hepatotoxicity is encountered in a statin-treated patient, undiagnosed, non-statin-related liver diseases should be strongly considered in the differential diagnosis.

Monitoring Liver Enzymes 56

Please refer to the following website for a management approach for patients with liver disease and/or transaminitis.

http://www.ccsguidelineprograms.ca/images/stories/Dyslipidemia_Program/2012/statin_intolerance_canadian_working_group_consensus.ppt%20read-only.pdf⁶⁸

- Current guidelines¹ suggest that ALT should be checked within the first 3 months. Routine testing of ALT is not required thereafter.
- > Patients with chronic but compensated liver disease can be treated safely with statins.
- While labeling in Canada still promotes serial testing of liver enzymes for at least up to a year and regularly thereafter, it is notable that current US statin labeling now recommends monitoring of liver transaminase values only at baseline and at the time of dose increases or when symptoms warrant.

Neurologic effects

- A potential increase in hemorrhagic stroke and impairment of memory and cognition have been reported with statins.
 - A 2012 meta analysis reports that statins reduced any stroke RR 0.76 (95% CI: 0.73 to 0.79). Subgroup analysis showed benefit in ischemic stroke RR 0.79 (95% CI 0.74 0.85) per 1.0 mmol/L LDL reduction, and a trend toward increase in hemorrhagic stroke RR1.15 (95%CI 0.97 1.38).³
- Some patients on statins may complain of **memory loss** or **cognitive impairment**.
 - o Rojas-Fernandez et al report that cognitive impairment is a rare occurrence and suggest some approaches to management.
 - A trial discontinuation can reveal a temporal relationship.
 - Switch from lipophilic to hydrophilic statins (i.e., pravastatin and rosuvastatin) which have limited penetration across the blood brain barrier.
 - The vascular benefits and putative cognitive benefits outweigh the risk of cognitive impairment associated with statin use; therefore, the current evidence does not support changing practice with respect to statin use, given this adverse effect.⁶¹
 - When given in late life to people at risk of vascular disease, statins had no effect in preventing Alzheimer's disease or dementia.⁶²
 - o In 2012 the FDA approved new safety warnings for statins including one on cognitive impairment. The following is a message to healthcare professionals:

"There have been rare post-marketing reports of cognitive impairment (e.g., memory loss, forgetfulness, amnesia, memory impairment, confusion) associated with statin use. These reported symptoms are generally not serious and reversible upon statin discontinuation, with variable times to symptom onset (1 day to years) and symptom resolution (median of 3 weeks)." http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm293101.htm

Renal

- The FDA reviewed data for all statins following reports of rosuvastatin-associated renal effects (proteinuria and hematuria) and concluded that while all statins have been associated with proteinuria and/or hematuria, the incidence is low and statins do not cause renal toxicity, except in the rare event of rhabdomyolysis.
- Statins may be safely used in patients with chronic kidney disease, whether or not they are receiving dialysis.
- Routine monitoring of proteinuria or renal function in statin-treated patients considered unwarranted.⁵⁶

Diabetes

- A meta-analysis⁶³ found that statins were associated with a 9% increased risk for incident diabetes (OR 1.09; 95% CI 1.02 to 1.17). This was noted particularly in trials that enrolled older participants.
 - NNH = 255 (95% CI 150 to 852) for 4 years.
- Intensive dose statin therapy has been found to increase the risk of diabetes compared with moderate dose therapy.⁹⁰
 - Risk to benefit considerations:
 - OR 1.12 (95% CI 1.04 to 1.22) for new onset diabetes
 - OR 0.84 (95%CI 0.75 to 0.94) for reduction in cardiovascular events.
 - This represents 2.0 additional cases in the intensive-dose group per 1000 patient years) and 6.5 fewer cardiovascular events per 1000 patient-years over approximately 5 years.
 - NNH 498 for new onset diabetes
 - NNT 155 for cardiovascular events.
- Findings of increased risk of diabetes have not altered current recommendations for the prevention of CVD in non-diabetic subjects as the vascular benefits markedly outweigh the small increased risk for developing diabetes.
- Canadian 2012 recommendation¹
 - Statins should not be withheld on the basis of a potential, small risk of new-onset diabetes mellitus emerging during long-term therapy (*Strong recommendation; Very Low-Quality Evidence*)
- Health Canada's MedEffect recently announced a labeling change for statins regarding the risk of increased blood sugar levels and a small increased risk of diabetes among patients already at risk for the disease.
 - Based on the review of all available data, Health Canada concluded that the risk of diabetes appears to be mainly in patients with pre-existing risk factors for diabetes, such as high levels of glucose or triglycerides, obesity, or high blood pressure.

For further information see: http://healthycanadians.gc.ca/recall-alert-rappel-avis/hc-sc/2013/16949a-eng.php

- In primary prevention, if a statin is suspected of precipitating diabetes, our content expert suggests emphasizing the importance of lifestyle modification.
 - If the patient has no risk factors for diabetes, consider discontinuing the statin to see if the condition resolves.
 - If the patient has risk factors for developing diabetes, their overall CV risk is likely to be high and the benefits of statin therapy probably outweigh the risks.



Cancer

- A large meta-analyses of individual patient level data found no significant effects on deaths due to cancer or other nonvascular causes (RR 0.97; 95% CI, 0.92-1.03;p=0.3) or on cancer incidence (RR 1.00; 95% CI, 0.96-1.04; P =0.9).
 - RCTs included those of more vs less intensive statin regimens (5 trials; 39,612 individuals; median follow-up 5.1 years) and of statin vs control (21 trials; 129,526 individuals; median follow-up 4.8 years).⁶⁴

2012 Guideline practical tips for managing statin intolerance¹

- Patients should be advised to discontinue statin therapy and contact their prescriber if worrisome symptoms develop.
- The amount of effort spent persevering with statin therapy should be directly related to the patient's level of risk.
- For patients at highest risk, all options should be exercised before alternating or withdrawing lipid-lowering therapy.
- Strong emphasis should always be placed on an aggressive nonpharmacologic approach such as diet modulation and exercise.
- For patients at lower risk who do not tolerate statin therapy, a re-evaluation of the need for lipid-lowering therapy should precede a change to alternative therapy because outcome studies are not robust.



References

- Anderson TJ, Gregoire J, Hegele RA, Couture P, Mancini J, McPherson R, et al. 2012 Update of The Canadian Cardiovascular Society Guidelines for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Dyslipidemia for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease in the Adult. Canadian Journal of Cardiology 2013;29:151-67.
- 2. D'Agostino RB, Sr., Vasan RS, Pencina MJ, Wolf PA, Cobain M, Massaro JM, et al. General cardiovascular risk profile for use in primary care: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2008 Feb 12;117(6):743-53.
- 3. Mihaylova B, Emberson J, Blackwell L, Keech A, Simes J, Barnes EH, et al. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with statin therapy in people at low risk of vascular disease: meta-analysis of individual data from 27 randomised trials. Lancet 2012 Aug 11;380(9841):581-90.
- National Disease Prevention Alliance. Guidelines For the Management of Absolute Cardiovascular Disease. 2012. National Stroke Prevention. http://strokefoundation.com.au/site/media/AbsoluteCVD_GL_webready.pd
- 5. Tattersall MC, Karmali KN, Gangnon RE, Keevil JG. The population effects of the global cardiovascular risk model in United States adults: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Surveys, 2005-2006. J Clin Lipidol 2011 May;5(3):166-72.
- 6. Matheny M, McPheeters ML, Glasser A, et al. Systematic Review of Cardiovascular Disease Risk Assessment Tools. Evidence Synthesis No. 85. AHRQ Publication No. 11-05155-EF-1. 2011. Rockville MD, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality.
- 7. Tonelli M, Lloyd A, Clement F, Conly J, Husereau D, Hemmelgarn B, et al. Efficacy of statins for primary prevention in people at low cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis. CMAJ 2011 Nov 8;183(16):E1189-E1202.
- 8. Brugts JJ, Yetgin T, Hoeks SE, Gotto AM, Shepherd J, Westendorp RG, et al. The benefits of statins in people without established cardiovascular disease but with cardiovascular risk factors: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. BMJ 2009 Jun 30;338:b2376. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2376.:b2376.
- 9. Ray KK, Seshasai SR, Erqou S, Sever P, Jukema JW, Ford I, et al. Statins and all-cause mortality in high-risk primary prevention: a meta-analysis of 11 randomized controlled trials involving 65,229 participants. Arch Intern Med 2010 Jun 28;170(12):1024-31.
- 10. Taylor F, Ward K, Moore TH, Burke M, Davey SG, Casas JP, et al. Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2011 Jan 19;(1):CD004816.
- 11. Hayward RA, Hofer TP, Vijan S. Narrative review: lack of evidence for recommended low-density lipoprotein treatment targets: a solvable problem. Ann Intern Med 2006 Oct 3;145(7):520-30.
- Cooper A, Nherera L, Calvert N, et al. Clinical Guidelines and Evidence Review for Lipid Modification: cardiovascular risk assessment and the primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. 2008. London, National Collaborating Centre for Primary Care and Royal College of General Practitioners.
- 13. Brindle P, Beswick A, Fahey T, Ebrahim S. Accuracy and impact of risk assessment in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease: a systematic review. Heart 2006 Dec;92(12):1752-9.
- Gupta AK. The efficacy and cost-effectiveness of statins in low-risk patients. CMAJ 2011 Nov 8;183(16):1821-3.
- 15. Yusuf S, Lonn E, Bosch J. Lipid lowering for primary prevention. Lancet 2009 Apr 4;373(9670):1152-5.
- Mancini J, Baker S, Bergeron J, et al. Diagnosis, Prevention, and Management of Statin Adverse Effects and Intolerance: Proceedings of a Canadian Working Group Consensus Conference. Canadian Journal of Cardiology 2011;27:635-62.
- 17. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ounpuu S, Dans T, Avezum A, Lanas F, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): case-control study. Lancet 2004 Sep 11;364(9438):937-52.
- 18. Sattelmair J, Pertman J, Ding EL, Kohl HW, III, Haskell W, Lee IM. Dose response between physical activity and risk of coronary heart disease: a meta-analysis. Circulation 2011 Aug 16;124(7):789-95.
- 19. Franco OH, de LC, Peeters A, Jonker J, Mackenbach J, Nusselder W. Effects of physical activity on life expectancy with cardiovascular disease. Arch Intern Med 2005 Nov 14;165(20):2355-60.
- Vaidya D, Yanek LR, Moy TF, Pearson TA, Becker LC, Becker DM. Incidence of coronary artery disease in siblings of patients with premature coronary artery disease: 10 years of follow-up. Am J Cardiol 2007 Nov 1;100(9):1410-5.



- 21. Bertuzzi M, Negri E, Tavani A, La VC. Family history of ischemic heart disease and risk of acute myocardial infarction. Prev Med 2003 Sep;37(3):183-7.
- 22. Lloyd-Jones DM, Nam BH, D'Agostino RB, Sr., Levy D, Murabito JM, Wang TJ, et al. Parental cardiovascular disease as a risk factor for cardiovascular disease in middle-aged adults: a prospective study of parents and offspring. JAMA 2004 May 12;291(18):2204-11.
- 23. Cannon CP, Braunwald E, McCabe CH, Rader DJ, Rouleau JL, Belder R, et al. Intensive versus moderate lipid lowering with statins after acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med 2004 Apr 8;350(15):1495-504.
- 24. de Lemos JA, Blazing MA, Wiviott SD, Lewis EF, Fox KA, White HD, et al. Early intensive vs a delayed conservative simvastatin strategy in patients with acute coronary syndromes: phase Z of the A to Z trial. JAMA 2004 Sep 15;292(11):1307-16.
- 25. Pedersen TR, Faergeman O, Kastelein JJ, Olsson AG, Tikkanen MJ, Holme I, et al. High-dose atorvastatin vs usual-dose simvastatin for secondary prevention after myocardial infarction: the IDEAL study: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2005 Nov 16;294(19):2437-45.
- 26. LaRosa JC, Grundy SM, Waters DD, Shear C, Barter P, Fruchart JC, et al. Intensive lipid lowering with atorvastatin in patients with stable coronary disease. N Engl J Med 2005 Apr 7;352(14):1425-35.
- 27. Armitage J, Bowman L, Wallendszus K, Bulbulia R, Rahimi K, Haynes R, et al. Intensive lowering of LDL cholesterol with 80 mg versus 20 mg simvastatin daily in 12,064 survivors of myocardial infarction: a double-blind randomised trial. Lancet 2010 Nov 13;376(9753):1658-69.
- 28. Thompson GR, Hollyer J, Waters DD. Percentage change rather than plasma level of LDL-cholesterol determines therapeutic response in coronary heart disease. Curr Opin Lipidol 1995 Dec;6(6):386-8.
- 29. Sever PS, Dahlof B, Poulter NR, Wedel H, Beevers G, Caulfield M, et al. Prevention of coronary and stroke events with atorvastatin in hypertensive patients who have average or lower-than-average cholesterol concentrations, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial--Lipid Lowering Arm (ASCOT-LLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial. Drugs 2004;64 Suppl 2:43-60.
- 30. Downs JR, Clearfield M, Weis S, Whitney E, Shapiro DR, Beere PA, et al. Primary prevention of acute coronary events with lovastatin in men and women with average cholesterol levels: results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study. JAMA 1998 May 27;279(20):1615-22.
- 31. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholesterol lowering with simvastatin in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2002 Jul 6;360(9326):7-22.
- 32. Shepherd J, Cobbe SM, Ford I, Isles CG, Lorimer AR, MacFarlane PW, et al. Prevention of coronary heart disease with pravastatin in men with hypercholesterolemia. 1995. Atheroscler Suppl 2004 Oct;5(3):91-7.
- Ridker PM, Danielson E, Fonseca FA, Genest J, Gotto AM, Jr., Kastelein JJ, et al. Rosuvastatin to prevent vascular events in men and women with elevated C-reactive protein. N Engl J Med 2008 Nov 20;359(21):2195-207.
- 34. Nakamura H, Arakawa K, Itakura H, Kitabatake A, Goto Y, Toyota T, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with pravastatin in Japan (MEGA Study): a prospective randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2006 Sep 30;368(9542):1155-63.
- 35. Kastelein JJ, Akdim F, Stroes ES, Zwinderman AH, Bots ML, Stalenhoef AF, et al. Simvastatin with or without ezetimibe in familial hypercholesterolemia. N Engl J Med 2008 Apr 3;358(14):1431-43.
- 36. Rossebo AB, Pedersen TR, Boman K, Brudi P, Chambers JB, Egstrup K, et al. Intensive lipid lowering with simvastatin and ezetimibe in aortic stenosis. N Engl J Med 2008 Sep 25;359(13):1343-56.
- 37. Baigent C, Landray MJ, Reith C, Emberson J, Wheeler DC, Tomson C, et al. The effects of lowering LDL cholesterol with simvastatin plus ezetimibe in patients with chronic kidney disease (Study of Heart and Renal Protection): a randomised placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2011 Jun 25;377(9784):2181-92.
- Bosomworth NJ. Practical use of the Framingham risk score in primary prevention: Canadian perspective. Can Fam Physician 2011 Apr;57(4):417-23.
- 39. Gutierrez J, Ramirez G, Rundek T, Sacco RL. Statin therapy in the prevention of recurrent cardiovascular events: a sex-based meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med 2012 Jun 25;172(12):909-19.
- 40. Walsh JM, Pignone M. Drug treatment of hyperlipidemia in women. JAMA 2004 May 12;291(18):2243-52.
- 41. Mosca L, Benjamin EJ, Berra K, Bezanson JL, Dolor RJ, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Effectiveness-based guidelines for the prevention of cardiovascular disease in women--2011 update: a guideline from the American Heart Association. J Am Coll Cardiol 2011 Mar 22;57(12):1404-23.



- 42. Mizuno K, Nakaya N, Ohashi Y, Tajima N, Kushiro T, Teramoto T, et al. Usefulness of pravastatin in primary prevention of cardiovascular events in women: analysis of the Management of Elevated Cholesterol in the Primary Prevention Group of Adult Japanese (MEGA study). Circulation 2008 Jan 29;117(4):494-502.
- 43. Mora S, Glynn RJ, Hsia J, MacFadyen JG, Genest J, Ridker PM. Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in women with elevated high-sensitivity C-reactive protein or dyslipidemia: results from the Justification for the Use of Statins in Prevention: An Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin (JUPITER) and meta-analysis of women from primary prevention trials. Circulation 2010 Mar 9;121(9):1069-77.
- de Longeril M, Salen P, Abramson J, Dodin S, et al. . Cholesterol lowering, cardiovascular diseases, and the rosuvastatin-jupiter controversy: A critical reappraisal. Archives of Internal Medicine 2010 Jun 28;170(12):1032-6.
- 45. Sheppard JP, Singh S, Fletcher K, McManus RJ, Mant J. Impact of age and sex on primary preventive treatment for cardiovascular disease in the West Midlands, UK: cross sectional study. BMJ 2012 Jul 12;345:e4535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e4535.:e4535.
- 46. Robinson JG. Lipid-lowering therapy for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in the elderly: opportunities and challenges. Drugs Aging 2009;26(11):917-31.
- 47. de Ruijter W, Westendorp RG, Assendelft WJ, den Elzen WP, de Craen AJ, le CS, et al. Use of Framingham risk score and new biomarkers to predict cardiovascular mortality in older people: population based observational cohort study. BMJ 2009 Jan 8;338:a3083. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a3083.:a3083.
- 48. Psaty BM, Anderson M, Kronmal RA, Tracy RP, Orchard T, Fried LP, et al. The association between lipid levels and the risks of incident myocardial infarction, stroke, and total mortality: The Cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004 Oct;52(10):1639-47.
- 49. Petursson H, Sigurdsson JA, Bengtsson C, Nilsen TI, Getz L. Is the use of cholesterol in mortality risk algorithms in clinical guidelines valid? Ten years prospective data from the Norwegian HUNT 2 study. J Eval Clin Pract 2012 Feb;18(1):159-68.
- 50. Petersen LK, Christensen K, Kragstrup J. Lipid-lowering treatment to the end? A review of observational studies and RCTs on cholesterol and mortality in 80+-year olds. Age Ageing 2010 Nov;39(6):674-80.
- Shepherd J, Blauw GJ, Murphy MB, Bollen EL, Buckley BM, Cobbe SM, et al. Pravastatin in elderly individuals at risk of vascular disease (PROSPER): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 2002 Nov 23;360(9346):1623-30.
- 52. Afilalo J, Duque G, Steele R, Jukema JW, de Craen AJ, Eisenberg MJ. Statins for secondary prevention in elderly patients: a hierarchical bayesian meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008 Jan 1;51(1):37-45.
- 53. Goldstein MR, Mascitelli L, Pezzetta F. Statin therapy in the elderly: misconceptions. J Am Geriatr Soc 2008 Jul;56(7):1365-5415.
- 54. Ali R, Alexander KP. Statins for the primary prevention of cardiovascular events in older adults: a review of the evidence. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother 2007 Mar;5(1):52-63.
- 55. Joy TR, Hegele RA. Narrative review: statin-related myopathy. Ann Intern Med 2009 Jun 16;150(12):858-68.
- 56. Mancini GB, Baker S, Bergeron J, Fitchett D, Frohlich J, Genest J, et al. Diagnosis, prevention, and management of statin adverse effects and intolerance: proceedings of a Canadian Working Group Consensus Conference. Can J Cardiol 2011 Sep;27(5):635-62.
- 57. Chokshi NP, Messerli FH, Sutin D, Supariwala AA, Shah NR. Appropriateness of statins in patients aged >/=80 years and comparison to other age groups. Am J Cardiol 2012 Nov 15;110(10):1477-81.
- 58. A Practical Guide to Stopping Medicines in Older People. Best Practices Journal , 10-23. 2010.
- Cohen JD, Brinton EA, Ito MK, Jacobson TA. Understanding Statin Use in America and Gaps in Patient Education (USAGE): an internet-based survey of 10,138 current and former statin users. J Clin Lipidol 2012 May;6(3):208-15.
- 60. Bruckert E, Hayem G, Dejager S, Yau C, Begaud B. Mild to moderate muscular symptoms with high-dosage statin therapy in hyperlipidemic patients--the PRIMO study. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 2005 Dec;19(6):403-14.
- 61. Rojas-Fernandez CH, Cameron JC. Is statin-associated cognitive impairment clinically relevant? A narrative review and clinical recommendations. Ann Pharmacother 2012;46:549-57.
- 62. McGuinness B, Craig D, Bullock R, Passmore P. Statins for the prevention of dementia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2009 Apr 15;(2):CD003160.
- 63. Sattar N, Preiss D, Murray HM, Welsh P, Buckley BM, de Craen AJ, et al. Statins and risk of incident diabetes: a collaborative meta-analysis of randomised statin trials. Lancet 2010 Feb 27;375(9716):735-42.



- 64. Cholesterol Treatment Trialists (CTT) Collaboration. Efficacy and safety of more intensive lowering of LDL cholesterol: a meta-analysis of data from 170 000 participants in 26 randomised trials. Lancet 2010;376:1670-81.
- 65. Armstrong D, Brouillard D, Matangi M. The Effect of the change in the Framingham Risk Score Calculator between the 2006 and 2009 Canadian Lipid Guidelines. Can J Cardiol 2011; 27: 167-70.
- 66. O'Mahony D, Gallagher P, Ryan C, Byrne S, et al. STOPP & START criteria: A new approach to detecting potentially inappropriate presecibing in old age. Euro Geriatr Med 2010; 1:45.
- 67. PL Detail-Document, Potential Drug Interactions with Grapefruit. Pharmacist's Letter/Prescriber's Letter. January 2013.
- 68. Canadian Cardiovascular Society. On-line resources accessed Jan 30, 2013 .http://www.ccsguidelineprograms.ca/mages/stories/Dyslipidemia_Program/2012/statin_intolerance_canadian_working_group_consensus.ppt%20read-only.pdf
- 69.Kjekshus J, Apatrei E, Barrios V, et al, for the CORONA group. Rosuvastatin in older patients with systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 2007;357:2248-61.
- 70. GISSI-HF Investigators. Effect of rosuvastatin in patients with chronic heart failure (the GISSI-HF trial): a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2008;372:1231-39.
- 71. Meaney A, Ceballos G, Asbun J, Solache G, Mendoza E, Vela A, et al. The VYtorin on carotid intima-media thickness and overall arterial rigidity (VYCTOR) study. J Clin Pharmacol 2009;49:838-47.
- 72. Knopp RH, d'Emden M, Smilde JG, Pocock SJ. Efficacy and safety of atorvastatin in the prevention of cardiovascular end points in subjects with type 2 diabetes: the Atorvastatin Study for Prevention of Coronary Heart Disease Endpoints in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus (ASPEN).. Diabetes Care 2006;29:1478-85
- 73. Boden WE, Probstfield JL, Anderson T, et al. Niacin in patients with low HDL cholesterol levels receiving intensive statin therapy. N Engl J Med 2011;365:2255-67.
- 74. Fleg JL, Mete M, Howard BV, Umans JG, et al. Effect of statins alone versus statins plus ezetimibe on carotid atherosclerosis in type 2 diabetes: The SANDS trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 2008;52: 2198-2205.
- 75. Taylor AJ, Villines TC, Stanek EJ, Devine PJ, et al. Extended- Release Niacin or Ezetimibe and carotid intimamedia thickness. N Engl J Med 2009;361:2113-22.
- 76. The Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration. Lipid-related markers and cardiovascular disease prediction. JAMA 2012; 307: 2499-2506.
- 77. Helfand M, Buckley DI, Freeman M, Fu R, et al. Emerging risk factors for coronary heart disease: a summary of systematic reviews conducted for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 2009; 151: 496-507.
- 78. Diabetes Care Program of Nova Scotia DHW SEAscape Database, June 2011
- 79. Tinetti ME, Bogardus ST Jr, Agostini JV. Potential pitfalls of disease-specific guidelines for patients with multiple conditions. N Engl J Med 2004;351:2870-74.
- 80. Mutasingwa DR, Ge H, Upshur RE. How applicable are clinical practice guidelines to elderly patients with comorbidities? Can Fam Physician 2011; 57: e253-62.
- 81. Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of cholerterol lowering with simvastatin in 20536 high-risk individuals: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 2002; 360: 7-22.
- 82. Glynn RJ, Koenig W, Nordestgaard BG, Shepherd J, Ridker PM. Rosuvastatin for primary prevention in older persons with elevated C-reactive protein and low to average low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels: Exploratory analysis of a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2010; 152: 488-96.
- 83. Holmes HM, Hayley DC, Alexander GC, Sachs GA. Reconsidering medication appropriateness for patients late in life. Arch Intern Med 2006; 166: 605-9.
- 84. Compendium of Pharmaceuticals and Specialties. Online resources accessed Feb 1, 2013. http://www.etherapeutics.ca/cps.showMonograph.action
- 85. Hanlon JT, Schmader KE, Samsa GP, et al. A method for assessing drug therapy appropriateness. J Clin Epidemiol 1992;45: 1045-1051.
- Genest J,McPherson R, Frohlich J, et al. 2009 Canadian Cardiovascular Society/Canadian guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of dyslipidemia and prevention of cardiovascular disease in the adult- 2009 recommendations. Can J Cardiol 2009; 25: 567-79.

- 87. Therapeutics Initiative. Do statins have a role in primary prevention? An update. Therapeutics Letter, Mar-Apr 2010; 77:1-7. <u>http://ti.ubc.ca/letter77</u>.
- 88. Backes JM, Moriarty PM, Ruisinger JF, et al. Effects of once weekly rosuvastatin among patients with a prior statin intolerance. Am J Cardiol 2007; 100: 554-5.
- 89. Backes JM, Venero CV, Gibson CA, et al. Effectiveness and tolerability of every-other-day rosuvastatin dosing in patients with prior statin intolerance. Ann Pharmacother 2008; 42: 341-6.
- 90. Preiss D, Seshasai SRK, Welsh P, Murphy SA, et al. Risk of incident diabetes with intensive-dose compared with moderate-dose statin therapy. JAMA 2011; 305: 2556-2564.
- 91. Lee DH, Buth KJ, Martin BJ, Yip AM, Hirsch GM. Frail patients are at increased risk for mortality and prolonged institutional care after cardiac surgery. Circulation. 2010;121:973-978.



Appendix 1 Summary of JUPITER ³³ and Limitations

- JUPITER stands for Justification for the Use of Statins in Prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin
- Purpose: investigate whether treatment with rosuvastatin, 20 mg daily, as compared with placebo, would decrease the rate of first major cardiovascular events in patients with no history of CVD, LDL <3.4 mmol/L, and hsCRP >2 mg per deciliter.
- > 89,980 were screened for entry, 17802 were enrolled, 38% women, median age 66 years.
- Primary outcome: composite of MI, stroke, CV death, hospitalization for UA or revascularization.
- Duration: Planned for 5 years but stopped at 1.9 years because the efficacy point had been reached but the outcome which achieved efficacy was not identified in the publication.
- LDL decreased by 50% from 2.8 to 1.4 mmol/L.
- ➢ Results:
 - There was benefit in the primary composite outcome and in overall mortality (Table 13).
 - There was benefit in the primary composite outcome in women and the elderly.
 - There was no statistically significant benefit in overall mortality in women and the elderly.

Table 13 Results of JUPITER

	Ev	ent Rate			NNT for 1.9 yrs	
Efficacy outcomes	Placebo n=8901	Rosuvastatin n=8901	ARR	RRR	NNT	95% CI
Primary outcome: composite of MI, stroke, CV death, hospitalization for UA or revascularization	2.8%	1.6%	1.2%	44%	82	61 to 127
Overall mortality	2.8%	2.2%	0.55%	20%	182	99 to 1088

ARR, absolute risk reduction; RRR, relative risk reduction; NNT, number needed to treat, calculated on raw numbers.

JUPITER has been cited to support

- LDL target of <2.0 mmol/L in primary prevention
- o Statins for primary prevention in the general population and in women and the elderly
- o hsCRP as an additional test for risk assessment
- o The benefit of rosuvastatin in reducing clinical outcomes
- Commentaries have raised several concerns about JUPITER which question its validity ^{15,44}
 - The high rate of screen failure (1 of 5 people were enrolled) limits generalizability to the entire primary prevention population.
 - The study was stopped early which can exaggerate positive findings.
 - The reduction in CV events was unexpectedly large considering the length of the study.
 - The case-fatality rate in the control group was low (8.8% of patients with an MI died).
 The case-fatality rate in the rosuvastatin group was 29%, implying that rosuvastatin led to more deaths from MI.

Appendix 2 Table of negative studies Results of negative studies may not be widely known but they do provide useful information. The following table summarizes some negative studies with their implications.

Study Year	N Length	Population	Comparators	Outcome	LDL	Results Outcome	Comments/Implications
Women							
CASHMERE 2006	538 1 yr	Post-menopausal women with no Hx CHD	Placebo Atorvastatin 80 mg Atorvastatin 80 mg + HRT	CIMT	Not reported	No sig difference between placebo and atorvastatin	 Results were not published in the medical literature and came to light through business publications Atorvastatin might not be effective in postmenopausal women CIMT might not be a valid surrogate outcome 1 year might not be long enough for benefit to be shown
Rosuvastatin							
CORONA ^{a 69} 2007	5011 2.7 yr	Ischemic heart failure Mean age 73	Placebo Rosuvastatin 10 mg	CVD death, non- fatal MI, non-fatal stroke	↓ 45% 3.5 → 1.9	No sig difference	 LDL reduction might not be related to clinical outcomes Rosuvastatin might not be effective in reducing clinical outcomes Older patients with complex co-existing conditions might not respond to statins
GISSI-HF ^{a 70} 2008	4574 3.9 yr	Heart failure (40% were ischemic) Mean age 68	Placebo Rosuvastatin 10 mg	Mortality Hospitalization for CVD	↓ 27% 3.2 → 2.3	No sig difference	 LDL reduction might not be related to clinical outcomes Rosuvastatin might not be effective in reducing clinical outcomes Older patients with complex co-existing conditions might not respond to statins Statins might not be effective in heart failure

Study	N	Population	Comparators	Outcome		Results	Comments/Implications
Year	Length				LDL	Outcome	
Ezetimibe							
SEAS ³⁶ 2008	1873 4.4 yr	Mild to moderate asymptomatic aortic stenosis No Hx of CVD (primary prevention) Mean age 68	Placebo Simvastatin 40 mg + Ezetimibe	CVD death, aortic valve replacement, CHF from aortic stenosis, MI, CHD hospitalization, stroke	↓ 54% 3.6→ 1.7	No sig difference in primary composite outcome CABG was only positive outcome	 There were no statistical corrections for the many outcomes reported LDL reduction might not be related to clinical outcomes Lipid lowering may be ineffective in the elderly in primary prevention (mean age 68 years, 61% of subjects were ≥ 65 years)
ENHANCE ³⁵ 2008	720 2 years	Familial hypercholesterolemia with LDL >5.4 mmol/L	Simvastatin 80 mg+ Ezetimibe 10 mg Simvastatin 80 mg + Placebo	Change in CIMT	Simvastatin: \downarrow 39% 8.2 \rightarrow 5.0 Simvastatin + ezetimibe \downarrow 56% 8.2 \rightarrow 3.7	No sig difference	- Negative result questions value of adding ezetimibe to simvastatin
Diabetes		1	1	1		1	
ASPEN ⁷² 2006	2410 4 years	Type 2 diabetes with or without CVD 40 to 75 yrs old LDL \leq 3.6 if had history of MI LDL \leq 4.1 with no history MI	Atorvastatin 10 mg Placebo	CVD death Non-fatal MI Non-fatal stroke Revascularization Hospitalization for unstable angina	↓ 29% 2.9 → 2.1	No significant difference in any outcome in primary or secondary prevention groups	 27% of patients in placebo group and 15% in atorvastatin group took lipid lowering therapy Difficult to explain lack of effect of atorvastatin in primary prevention group considering the 29% decrease in LDL.
Niacin							
AIM-HIGH ⁷³ 2011	N=3414 Stopped after mean 3 years due to lack of	≥ 45 years with CVD and LDL <4.65 mmol/L	Niacin ER 1500-2000 mg per day Vs. Placebo All patients received: Simvastatin 40-80 mg	CHD death, nonfatal MI, ischemic stroke, hospitalization for ACS, or symptom- driven coronary or cerebral	2 year data LDL decrease Niacin 12% (from 1.9 to 1.6 mmol/L)	Primary end point group Niacin 16.4% Placebo 16.2%, HR 1.02; 95% CI, 0.87 to 1.21; P = 0.80	 Open label run in identified patients with an acceptable side effect profile to niacin. Approx 50% of patients screened were included in study. Addition of niacin to statin (with or without ezetimibe) provides no additional benefit and possibly harm due to

Study	N	Population	Comparators	Outcome		Results	Comments/Implications
Year	Length				LDL	Outcome	
	benefit shown with addition of niacin		+ezetimibe, if required to maintain LDL 1.03-2.07 mmol/L	revascularization.	Placebo+statin 5.5% (from1.9 to 1.8 mmol/L) HDL increase Niacin 25% (from 0.9 to 1.1 mmol/L) Placebo+statin 9.8% (from 0.9 to 1 mmol/L)	 Rate of ischemic stroke higher with niacin vs placebo (1.6% vs.0.9%). no sig. Difference in secondary outcomes 	ischemic stroke - Since it was studied in combination only, the study does not inform whether niacin alone would be of benefit in patients who are intolerant of other lipid lowering therapies.
HPS2-THRIVE 2013	Approx 4 years	Secondary prevention Did not preselect for low HDL	Niacin + laropiprant (anti- flushing agent) vs. statin	CHD death, nonfatal MI, stroke, coronary revascularizations		Preliminary data reported on heart.org indicate no significant difference in primary outcome but Increased risk of nonfatal but serious side effects with niacin + liropiprant	 Results have not yet been published in peer-reviewed literature Niacin showed no benefit compared to statin

CIMT: Carotid intima media thickness. The change in thickness of the intima and media of the carotid artery. This outcome has often been used as a surrogate for cardiovascular events.

CABG: coronary artery bypass graft

a CORONA and GISSI-HF were conducted because post-hoc analyses of RCTs, observational studies, and small studies had indicated a benefit for statins in heart failure. The negative results from two large RCTs specifically designed to determine if statins were beneficial in heart failure show the hazard of basing clinical decisions on low quality research data.

Appendix 3 Ezetimibe clinical trials

EZETIMIBE CLINICAL TRIALS							
Trial Design, Patient Population, Primary Outcome	Compar	ison (Daily Doses)	Results	Comments			
ENHANCE ³⁵ Kastelein JP et al 2008 <i>Design:</i> Randomized, double blind, duration: 2 years <i>Population:</i> N = 720, mean 46 years old 51% male, dx. of familial hypercholesterolemia (FH) with LDL > 5.4 mmol/L after 6 week placebo run-in. Previous statin use ~ 80%. Approx 30% current smokers. <i>Primary Outcome:</i> change in the mean carotid-artery intima-media thickness.(CIMT)	Simvastatin 80mg + Ezetimibe 10mg vs. Simvastatin 80mg + placebo		<i>CIMT</i> : No significant difference between groups Both groups had an increase in CIMT with trend favoring Simva + placebo. <i>LDL levels</i> : Simvastatin: 4.98±1.56 mmol /I Simvastatin + ezetimibe 3.65±1.36 mmol/ I	No benefit found in this higher risk, FH population questions place in therapy for ezetimibe without proven effects on hard clinical outcomes.			
SANDS ⁷⁴ Fleg JL et al 2008 Post-hoc subgroup analysis of a larger RCT N= 427, 36 months <i>Population</i> : SANDS study included 499 American Indian men and women ≥age 40 with type 2 diabetes, LDL-C>2.6 mmol/l , SBP>130mmHg, and no prior CV events <i>Primary outcome</i> : carotid artery intimal medial thickness (CIMT)	Standard treatment: s statin with or without a achieve goals. LDL treatment goals: Standard: 2. Aggressive: 1. (Blood pressure and r also managed to stan	tatin vs. Intensive treatment with addition of ezetimibe 10 mg to 6 mmol/l 8mmol/l non- HDL goals were dard and intensive goals.)	Greater CIMT regression with intensive treatment compared to standard. In Intensive group: No difference in CIMT regression between groups that added ezetimibe to those that did not take ezetimibe.	Aggressive LDL lowering resulted in similar regression of CIMT whether from a statin alone or statin plus ezetimibe. Clinical meaningfulness of magnitude of changes in CIMT requires			
VYCTOR ⁷¹ Meaney A et al 2009 Randomized, open-label comparative 1 year trial. Target level of < 2.6 mmol/l in CHD patients and < 1.8 mmol/l in diabetes <i>Population:</i> N= 90 high risk Mexican patients <i>Primary Outcome:</i> Change in intima-media thickness	Initial therapy -Pravastatin 40mg -Simvastatin 40 mg -Simvastatin 20 mg + ezetimibe 10 mg	Not at goal increased to: -Pravastatin 40 mg + ezetimibe 10 mg -Simvastatin 80 mg -Simvastatin 40 mg + ezetimibe 10 mg	All 3 arms saw a reduction in CIMT with no difference between arms	Small number of patients in each group (n=30 / group) 26 of the 90 patients discontinued the study.			
ARBITER 6–HALTS ⁷⁵ Taylor AJ et al 2009 RCT, open-label , terminated early due to superiority of niacin over ezetimibe <i>Population:</i> N= 363; n= 208 at early termination. Pts with CHD or CHD equivalents. 80% male, LDL at target on statins, low HDL <i>Primary Outcome:</i> Change in intima-media thickness	Open label medications added to statin: Ezetimibe 10 mg or Extended Release Niacin 500 mg per day increased to maximum tolerated dose up to 2000 mg/day.		Niacin HDL: Significant increase in niacin group by 18% CIMT: Significant regression in CIMT Reduction in major coronary events compared with ezetimibe (1% vs 5% p=0.04) Ezetimibe Reduction in LDL , HDL and triglycerides Significant increase in CIMT	CIMT regression did not correlate with LDL reduction.			
SEAS ³⁶ Rossebo AB et al 2008 R, DB trial 52 months <i>Population:</i> N= 1873 mild to moderate asymptomatic aortic stenosis <i>Primary Outcome</i> : composite of major CV events	Simvastatin 40 mg + o Vs. Placebo Open label statin allo	ezetimibe 10 mg wed in both groups	Primary outcome occurred in 35.3% of treatment group and 38.2% of placebo (HR 0.96 95%Cl 0.83-1.12) The only component of the primary outcome with a significant benefit was coronary artery bypass surgery.	Cancer more frequent in the combination treatment group. P=0.01			

EZETIMIBE CLINICAL TRIALS									
Trial Design, Patient Population, Primary Outcome	Comparison (Daily Doses)	Results	Comments						
SHARP ³⁷ Baigent C et al 2011 R, DB, N= 9270 median follow-up of 4-9 years <i>Population:</i> Chronic kidney disease (3023 on dialysis and 6247 not); no known history of myocardial infarction or coronary revascularisation. 15% previous vascular disease; 23% diabetes; 63% men; mean age 62 <i>Primary Outcome:</i> First major atherosclerotic event (non-fatal myocardial infarction or coronary death, non- haemorrhagic stroke, or any arterial revascularisation procedure).	Simvastatin 20 mg plus Ezetimibe 10 mg vs. placebo (First year of study included a simvastatin 20 mg group. Patients were re randomized at one year to combination therapy or placebo) 66% compliance rate with therapy	Average LDL difference: 0.85 mmol/L <i>Major atherosclerotic events</i> : 11.3% treatment vs 13.4% placebo. RR (0.83, 95% Cl 0.74–0.94; p=0.0021). - <i>Non-hemorrhagic stroke:</i> treatment 2.8% vs. placebo 3.8%; RR 0.75, 95% Cl 0.60–0.94; p=0.01) <i>Arterial revascularization:</i> treatment 6.1% vs placebo 7.6%; RR 0.79, 95% Cl 0.68–0.93; p=0.0036). No significant difference for non-fatal MI or death from coronary heart disease. Similar outcomes in patients on dialysis vs. not on dialysis.	Unable to determine whether the combination of simvastatin and ezetimibe confers more benefit than simvastatin alone.						

		-					
Generic	Daily Dose ^a		Effect on LDL		Pharmacokinetic P	arameters	
All available generically	Usual Adult Daily Dose		LDL Percent Lowering	Metabolizing Liver Enzyme ^g	Renal Excretion (%) ^h	Half life (hrs) ⁱ	Lipophilic ^j
Atorvastatin	10–80 mg at any time		39 to 60%	CYP3A4	<2	13–16	Yes
Rosuvastatin	5–40 mg ^d at any time		52 to 63%	CYP2C9	10	19	No
Simvastatin	5–40 mg with evening meal ^f		24 to 47%	CYP3A4	13	3	Yes
Fluvastatin	20–80 mg with evening meal		19 to 35%	CYP2C9, 2C8, 3A4	<6	0.5–3	Yes
Lovastatin	20–80 mg with evening meal ^b		24 to 40%	CYP3A4	<10	3–4	Yes
Pravastatin	10–40 mg at bedtime		22 to 34%	Not known ^e	20	1.8	No

Appendix 4 Statin Characteristic 55,56,84

a. The lower number in the range is the usual starting dose. The higher number represents the maximum daily dose.

- b. A daily dose of lovastatin 80 mg can be given at once with supper or in 2 divided doses, with breakfast and supper.
- c. The usual starting dose of pravastatin is 10–20 mg daily.
- d. In Asian patients and in those with severe renal impairment, the initial dose of 5 mg daily is recommended.
- e. Pravastatin is not extensively metabolized by the cytochrome P450 system. Its precise metabolic pathway is not known
- f. Updated simvastatin dosing accompanied a Health Canada Warning regarding simvastatin 80 mg:

The regular use of the 80 mg dose of simvastatin has been associated with an increased risk of myopathy/rhabdomyolysis, particularly during the first year of treatment. The recommended simvastatin dosage is 5 to 40 mg/day. Patients unable to achieve their LDL-C goal with the 40 mg dose of ZOCOR[®] should be switched to alternative LDL-C-lowering treatments with lower risks of muscle toxicity.

Simvastatin 80 mg dose should be restricted to patients who have been taking this dose chronically with no evidence of muscle toxicity or to patients at high risk for cardiovascular complications who do not tolerate other statins and in whom the benefits are expected to outweigh the potential risks. Concomitant use of recommended dosage of simvastatin with certain drugs and grapefruit juice increases the risk of myopathy/rhabdomyolysis. http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/dhp-mps/medeff/advisories-avis/prof/2012/zocor/hpc-cps-eng.php

- g. Statins metabolized by CYP450 3A4 have a higher potential for drug interactions.
- h. Some renally excreted statins may require dose adjustment in patients with severe renal dysfunction.
- i. Statins with longer half life may be suitable for longer dosing intervals in patients experiencing myopathy on daily dosing.
- j. Lipophilicity may contribute to increased risks of myopathy and possibly cognitive impairment.

Appendix 5 Statin Costs for Comparable Lipid Lowering

Approximate	High Poter	ncy Statins	Lower Potency Statins				
% LDL lowering	Atorvastatin*	Rosuvastatin	Simvastatin	Pravastatin	Fluvastatin	Lovastatin	
22%	-	-	5 mg \$0.36	10 mg \$0.57	20 mg \$0.96	-	
25-32%	-	-	10 mg \$0.71	20 mg \$0.67	40 mg \$1.34	20 mg \$0.72	
31-39%	10 mg \$0.30 *	-	20 mg \$0.88	40 mg \$0.81	80 mg \$1.62	40 mg or 80 mg 40 mg \$1.32 80 mg \$2.64	
37-45% (Rosuvastatin 10 mg 52%)	20 mg \$0.43 *	5 or 10 mg 5 mg \$0.65 10 mg \$0.48	40 mg \$0.88	80 mg (2X 40 mg) \$1.62	-	80 mg 80 mg \$2.64	
47-52%	40 mg \$0.46 *	10 mg 10 mg \$0.48	80 mg ^{**} \$0.88	-	-	-	
55-60%	80 mg \$0.46 *	20 mg \$0.60	-	-	-	-	
63%	-	40 mg \$0.70	-	-	-	-	

Rows represent doses and cost of statins for comparable lipid lowering, as indicated in the 1st column

McKesson Canada Prices 2013 Costs are primarily for generic brands.

*Note: approximate atorvastatin prices starting on April 1 2013 (18% of brand).

** no longer recommended – see footnote f. Appendix 4

Reference for equivalent doses Smith MEB, Lee NJ, Haney E, Carson S, HMG-CoA Reductase Inhibitors (Statins) and Fixed-dose Combination Products Containing a Statin Update 5 November 2009 <u>http://www.rx.wa.gov/documents/statins_final_report_update5_1109.pdf</u>

Cost for Ezetimibe (Ezetrol) 10 mg: \$1.94/ tab

Appendix 6 Clinical Frailty Scale

- 1. **Very Fit** People who are robust, active, energetic and motivated. These people commonly exercise regularly. They are among the fittest for their age.
- Well People who have no active disease symptoms but are less fit than Category 1. Often, they exercise or are very active occasionally, e.g. seasonally.
- Managing Well People whose medical problems are well controlled, but are not regularly active beyond routine walking.
- Vulnerable While not dependent on others for daily help, often symptoms limit activities. A common complaint is being "slowed up," and /or being tired during the day.

Mildly Frail – These people often have more evident slowing, and need help in high order IADLs (finances, transportation, heavy housework, medications). Typically, mild frailty progressively impairs shopping and walking outside alone, meal preparation and housework.



Moderately Frail – People need help with all outside activities and with keeping house. Inside, they often have problems with stairs and need help with bathing and might need minimal assistance (cuing, standby) with dressing.



 Severely Frail – Completely dependent for personal care, from whatever cause (physical or cognitive). Even so, they seem stable and not at high risk of dying (within ~ 6 months).



Very Severely Frail – Completely dependent, approaching the end of life. Typically, they could not recover even from a minor illness.



Terminally III – Approaching the end of life. This category applies to people with a life expectancy < 6 months, who are not otherwise evidently frail.

Where dementia is present, the degree of frailty usually corresponds to the degree of dementia:

- **Mild dementia** includes forgetting the details of a recent event, though still remembering the event itself, repeating the same question/story and social withdrawal.
- Moderate dementia recent memory is very impaired, even though they seemingly can remember their past life events well. They can do personal care with prompting.
- Severe dementia they cannot do personal care without help.
- Canadian Study on Health & Aging, Revised 2008.
- K. Rockwood et al. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. CMAJ 2005;173:489–495.

© 2009-2010. Version 1.2. All rights reserved. Geriatric Medicine Research, Dalhousie University, Halifax, Canada